

DISSEMINATION OF INTEGRATED CARE WITHIN ADULT PRIMARY CARE SETTINGS

THE COLLABORATIVE CARE MODEL

A M E R I C A N P S Y C H I A T R I C A S S O C I A T I O N A C A D E M Y O F P S Y C H O S O M A T I C M E D I C I N E

I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The integration of behavioral health and general medical services has been the focus of intensive resources, planning, and education efforts for at least a decade. Significant, high-quality scientific health services research spanning three decades has identified one model in particular as being effective and efficient in delivering improved outcomes for a population of patients with behavioral health disorders seen in primary care settings, while also controlling costs and improving access and satisfaction with care. Known as the Collaborative Care Model, it separates itself from other attempts to integrate behavioral health services through its wide adaptation and steady reliance on consistent principles of chronic care delivery, as well as attention to accountability and quality improvement (QI).

Over time, through many large-scale adaptations encompassing thousands of patients, expert consensus has identified four essential elements of Collaborative Care. These include the provision of care that is 1) team-driven, 2) population-focused, 3) measurement-guided, and 4) evidence-based. A Collaborative Care team is multidisciplinary, shares roles and tasks, and together is responsible for the health outcomes of their patients. As a whole, the team is focused on the entirety of their patient population, regardless of the patient's current level of engagement in treatment. The team is equipped with tools to help manage their population of patients efficiently, often conceptualized as a disease registry. Together, this team utilizes measurement-guided patient-centered outcomes to guide the delivery of evidence-based care in order to achieve "treat-to-target" clinical goals for each patient. These core processes, in aggregate, allow each team to be held accountable to the care they provide and improve upon their processes of care to achieve better outcomes in cost savings, satisfaction, access to care, and health for the patients and systems they serve.

Each of these core elements can be adapted to a variety of community settings, and this report highlights the background, eligibility requirements, adaptation of the essential elements, accountability, and quality improvement efforts in five of the largest Collaborative Care implementations to date from the persons directly involved in their implementation. Lessons learned from these early adopter programs provide invaluable insights for systems seeking quality, evidence-based "integrated care" solutions.

The American Psychiatric Association (APA) and the Academy of Psychosomatic Medicine (APM), jointly represented in authorship of this report, are dedicated to advancing the scientific understanding of evidence-based integrated care by outlining the current state of knowledge in this complex field and advocating for productive dialogue surrounding these models through the publication of this report.

MEMBERSHIP, DISCLOSURES, & ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Workgroup Membership

Erik R. Vanderlip, M.D., M.P.H.

Workgroup Co-Chair Member, American Psychiatric Association Council on Psychosomatic Medicine; Assistant Professor, Department of Psychiatry and Medical Informatics University of Oklahoma School of Community Medicine Tulsa, OK

James Rundell, M.D.

Workgroup Co-Chair Member, Council of the Academy of Psychosomatic Medicine; Professor of Psychiatry, University of Minnesota School of Medicine; Medical Director, Mental Health Homeless Program Minneapolis VA Health Care System Minneapolis, MN

Marc Avery, M.D.

Clinical Professor and Associate Director for Clinical Consultation, Department of Psychiatry & Behavioral Sciences University of Washington Seattle, WA

Carol Alter, M.D.

Senior Director, Medical Policy and Quality AstraZeneca, U.S. Medical Affairs Gaithersburg, MD

Charles Engel, M.D., M.P.H.

Senior Health Scientist, RAND Corporation Washington, D.C.

John Fortney, Ph.D.

Professor and Director, Department of Population Health, Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences University of Washington AIMS Center University of Washington Seattle, WA

David Liu, M.D.

Assistant Clinical Professor, Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences University of California-Davis Health System Sacramento, CA

Mark Williams, M.D.

Assistant Professor, Department of Psychiatry and Psychology Mayo Clinic Rochester, MN

Consultants

Lori Raney, M.D.

Chair, American Psychiatric Association Workgroup on Integrated Care; Vice-Chair, APA Council on Healthcare Systems and Financing; Director, Health Management Associates Collaborative Care Consulting Denver, CO

David Gitlin, M.D.

Chair, APA Council on Psychosomatic Medicine; Assistant Professor, Department of Psychiatry Harvard Medical School Boston, MA

Linda Worley, M.D.

Vice Chair, APA Council on Psychosomatic Medicine; Immediate Past-President, Academy of Psychosomatic Medicine; South Central United States VHA Mental Health Chief Physician Consultant; Adjunct Professor of Psychiatry, University of Arkansas Medical Sciences Little Rock, AR Adjunct Professor of Medicine, Vanderbilt University Nashville, TN

Cathy Crone, M.D.

President, Academy of Psychosomatic Medicine (2014-2015); Associate Professor, Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences George Washington School of Medicine and Health Sciences Washington, D.C.

APA Administration Liaisons

Kristin Kroeger Chief of Policy, Programs, & Partnerships American Psychiatric Association Arlington, VA

Ian Hedges American Psychiatric Association Executive Director, HealthNet of Rock County, Inc. Janesville, WI

Disclosures

James Rundell, M.D., is a paid consultant for Quartet, LLC, a company providing informatics services to health care plans to facilitate integrated care in their networks.

The remaining contributors report no relevant financial disclosures.

Acknowledgements

The Workgroup members wish to express sincere thanks to the APM and administration at the APA for their instrumental support throughout the creation of this manuscript.

The APA Board of Trustees and APM Executive Committee approved the report in 2015.

This report is dedicated in loving memory to the spirit and passion of Dr. Wayne Katon, whose body of scientific evidence and character lives on.

Table of Contents

I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	2
MEMBERSHIP, DISCLOSURES, & ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	3
II. WORKGROUP BACKGROUND	8
A. FORMATION OF WORKGROUP	8
B. MEMBERSHIP OF WORKGROUP	8
C. CHARGE OF WORKGROUP	9
III. SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE FOR INTEGRATED CARE	10
IV. ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF THE COLLABORATIVE CARE MODEL	13
A. TEAM-DRIVEN CARE	13
B. POPULATION-FOCUSED CARE	16
C. MEASUREMENT-GUIDED CARE	20
D. EVIDENCE-BASED CARE	24
V. ACCOUNTABILITY, QUALITY IMPROVEMENT AND MEASUREMENT	28
A. DEFINITIONS	28
B. RATIONALE AND KEY ELEMENTS	28
C. NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION/CASE STUDY: MEASURES FOR QUALITY IMPROVEMENT	30
VI. UNIQUE ATTRIBUTES OF PSYCHIATRISTS IN THE COLLABORATIVE CARE MODEL	31
1. TRAINING IN BOTH MEDICINE AND BEHAVIORAL HEALTH	31
2. EDUCATING OTHERS IN APPLYING EVIDENCE-BASED PRACTICE	31
3. COLLABORATION, CONSULTATION, AND PARTNERSHIP WITH PRIMARY CARE	32
4. TEAM LEADERSHIP, VISION, AND ACCOUNTABILITY	32
5. MEDICO-LEGAL LIABILITY	33
VII. IN-VIVO IMPLEMENTATIONS OF COLLABORATIVE CARE MODELS	34
A. WASHINGTON STATE MENTAL HEALTH INTEGRATION PROGRAM (MHIP)	35
B. DEPRESSION INITIATIVE ACROSS MINNESOTA, OFFERING A NEW DIRECTION (DIAMOND)	39
C. RE-ENGINEERING SYSTEMS OF PRIMARY CARE TREATMENT OF PTSD AND DEPRESSION IN THE MILITARY (RE	SPECT-
MIL)	46
D. VETERANS HEALTH ADMINISTRATION	51
E. UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA DAVIS HEALTH SYSTEM	57
VIII. TABLE 4. IN-VIVO COLLABORATIVE CARE MODEL IMPLEMENTATION CHARACTERISTICS	61
IX. TABLE 5. IN-VIVO COLLABORATIVE CARE MODEL ADAPTATION OF ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS	62
X. FUTURE DIRECTIONS	66

II. WORKGROUP BACKGROUND

A. Formation of Workgroup

At the APA September Components Meeting of 2014, several committees identified the need for APA policy and guidance for membership defining evidence-based standards of integrated care models and showcasing emblematic programs of robust Collaborative Care implementation. The Council of Psychosomatic Medicine (PSM), under the guidance of Dr. David Gitlin, and the APM, under the guidance of then-President Dr. Linda Worley, convened a workgroup chaired by Drs. Rundell and Vanderlip to examine existing models and assist interested organizations with defining evidence-based integrated care implementations. Both organizations were concerned that emerging policy documents and implementation recommendations were often not sufficiently evidence-driven. It is important to address the increasing national interest in integrated care model dissemination through the best available data and experience.

B. Membership of Workgroup

Following further discussions, the Workgroup membership was specifically selected to represent several large-scale integrated care implementations nationally. This included psychiatric and non-psychiatric leadership from the following:

- 1) The University of Washington Advancing Integrated Mental Health Solutions (AIMS) Center (Marc Avery, M.D., and John Fortney, Ph.D.)
- 2) The Veterans Health Affairs (VA) population (James Rundell, M.D. and John Fortney, Ph.D.)
- 3) Active military/Department of Defense (Charles Engel, M.D., M.P.H.)
- 4) The Minnesota DIAMOND (Depression Initiative Across Minnesota—Offering New Directions) project (Mark Williams, M.D.)
- 5) An academic/university-based health system The University of California, Davis (David Liu, M.D.)

Carol Alter, M.D., provided additional representation from the APM and APA Council on Healthcare Systems and Financing. Consultants providing oversight and guidance also included APA administration from the Office of HIV Psychiatry (Ian Hedges) and the Office of the CEO and Medical Director (Kristin Kroeger), as well as Lori Raney, M.D., Chair of the APA Workgroup on Integrated Care. Drs. Gitlin and Crone were representatives from the APA PSM Council and the APM.

C. Charge of Workgroup

Beginning February 2015, the Workgroup convened a series of teleconferences. During the first teleconference, the group discussed the charge of the Workgroup and expected product and timeline of development. Issues discussed at length included the scope of the Workgroup report and how to conduct the review of evidence-based literature on integrated care models. At the conclusion of the first teleconference, there was considerable interest in producing a report that highlighted the importance of primary care integration through the Collaborative Care Model. Drs. Rundell and Vanderlip reformatted the Workgroup charge to be inclusive of a range of implementations while calling for consistency in definitions to be used in integrated care discussions and use of a common language when addressing essential components of Collaborative Care Models. At the conclusion of the second teleconference call, an outline for the report was developed based on Workgroup discussions and review of the literature. The Workgroup elected to keep this report focused on integrated care models for mental health and primary care, though it is important to acknowledge that there is impressive evidence for the effectiveness of integrating mental health services with specialty medicalsurgical care (Sharpe et al. 2014) and integrating medical and preventive services into specialty care of the seriously mentally ill (Druss et al. 2000, 2002, 2010).

The Workgroup's final charge was to produce a working set of principles defining evidence-based integrated care implementation based on review of published literature and expert consensus when sufficient evidence could not drive a recommendation. Adaptations of these principles through in vivo implementations are highlighted. This product is intended to facilitate standardization of educational materials and messaging for APA and APM membership as well as policy-makers, external and allied organizations, health system partners, payers, and the general public.

III. SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE FOR INTEGRATED CARE

The notion of integrated care encompasses a broad spectrum of health services interventions intended to blend primary care services with traditional mental health services. Integrating mental health into primary care settings, as well as the blending of primary and preventive medicine into traditional mental health settings represents a more holistic approach to treatment than the traditional consultative and referral models. Bringing mental health services to primary care normalizes and de-stigmatizes treatment for behavioral health disorders, simultaneously increasing access for patients by making evidence-based mental health services available in their regular primary care clinics. The delivery of primary care services to mental health settings also can overcome barriers to receiving medical and preventive care, offering increased convenience and familiarity with services. Merging mental health services within primary care services is more studied than the reverse; the science around effective health services delivery is greater for these models.

For models integrating mental health into primary care, mental health providers can impact the care of more patients than in the specialty mental health referral sector. Integrated mental health providers take on more consultative and team-based roles and focus on helping primary care providers (PCPs) treat mental health disorders, leveraging their skills and expertise to reach more patients in need. In addition, integrated care encounters are typically briefer and more problem-focused than traditional specialty mental health encounters.

The terminology around integrated care models is somewhat inconsistent and confusing. The terms "integrated care" and "Collaborative Care" have often been used interchangeably, while at other times these terms reflect subtle but important differences in approach. For this report, we define Collaborative Care as the embodiment of the model originally developed by Katon and colleagues at the University of Washington, demonstrated to be clinically effective in randomized control trials (W. Katon et al. 1995; W. Katon et al. 1996). Collaborative Care is a specific type of integrated care that operationalizes the principles of the Chronic Care Model (E. Wagner 2001) to improve access to evidence based mental health treatments for primary care patients.

There is expert consensus that all effective Collaborative Care Models share four core elements: 1) team-driven, 2) population-focused, 3) measurement-guided, and 4) evidence-based. These four elements, when combined, can allow for a fifth guiding principal to emerge; accountability and quality improvement. Table 1 reviews the core elements of Collaborative Care implementation. Collaborative Care is *team-driven*, led by a PCP with support from a "care manager" (CM) and consultation from a psychiatrist who provides treatment recommendations for patients who are not achieving clinical goals. Other mental health professionals can contribute well to the Collaborative Care Model. Collaborative Care is *population-focused*, using a registry to monitor treatment engagement and response to care. Collaborative Care is *measurement-guided* with a consistent dedication to patient-reported outcomes and utilizes *evidence-based* approaches to achieve those outcomes. Additionally, Collaborative Care is

patient-centered with proactive outreach to engage, activate, promote self-management and treatment adherence, and coordinate services.

Element	Definition
Team-Driven	A multidisciplinary group of healthcare delivery professionals providing care in a coordinated fashion and empowered to work at the top of their professional training.
Population-Focused	The Collaborative Care team is responsible for the provision of care and health outcomes of a defined population of patients
Measurement-Guided	The team uses systematic, disease-specific, patient-reported outcome measures (e.g., symptom rating scales) to drive clinical decision-making.
Evidence-Based	The team adapts scientifically proven treatments within an individual clinical context to achieve improved health outcomes.

Table 1: Essential Elements of Collaborative Care

Because of these principles, Collaborative Care has demonstrated cost-effectiveness, significant improvements in clinical outcomes, and high levels of satisfaction in providers and patients in diverse community settings. It is *practice-tested* with sustained adoption in hundreds of clinics across the country. By aggregating patient-reported outcomes across providers and clinics, Collaborative Care also is *accountable* to payers and amenable to continuous *quality improvement*. Collaborative Care has consistently demonstrated the capacity to deliver improved clinical, cost, and quality outcomes, including better satisfaction and access to services than traditional models of care delivery.

The Cochrane Collaborative conducted a meta-analysis of 79 randomized controlled trials comparing Collaborative Care to usual care for primary care patients with depression and anxiety, finding small-to-medium effect sizes for short- and long-term clinical outcomes (Archer et al. 2012). The clinical improvement associated with Collaborative Care is meaningful to patients and providers. In randomized trials, compared to usual care, Collaborative Care doubles depression treatment response rates(Unützer 2002). Quality improvement data from real world implementation of Collaborative Care programs suggests that similar outcomes can be achieved in a variety of settings (Rubenstein et al. 2010; Unützer et al. 2012; J. Fortney et al. 2012).

Because Collaborative Care is a multi-faceted intervention with core elements, there is not strong evidence about the relative contribution of each core element. However, because there has been variation in some intervention components across randomized controlled trials, it is possible to empirically examine the contribution of some components using meta-analysis techniques. Using data from multiple randomized controlled trials, one Collaborative Care intervention component stands out as being highly predictive of clinical outcomes. Having regularly scheduled CM supervision by a psychiatrist (i.e., conducting weekly patient caseload reviews) was significantly correlated with improved outcomes (Bower et al. 2006; S Gilbody, Bower, and Fletcher 2006). Thus, having specialty mental health providers on the team most likely contributes to the clinical effectiveness of Collaborative Care. In addition, evidence from meta-analyses suggests that skill sets brought by nurse CMs in those settings studied, especially those with past mental health service delivery experience, generate better clinical outcomes than CMs from other disciplines (Bower et al. 2006; S Gilbody, Bower, and Fletcher 2006; Thota et al. 2012). Another meta-analysis examined whether it matters if the members of the Collaborative Care team are physically co-located with one another. The authors concluded that there is robust empirical evidence for the effectiveness of Collaborative Care regardless of the degree of physical co-location. In fact, several studies have shown that a centralized mental health team can effectively support multiple remote PCPs (G. E. Simon et al. 2004; G. E. Simon et al. 2011; J. C. Fortney et al. 2007; J. C. Fortney et al. 2013; Dietrich et al. 2004; J. C. Fortney et al. 2015).

This review synthesizes the core elements of the Collaborative Care Model through expert consensus based on lived experience with wide-scale implementations involving thousands of patients. The core elements of Collaborative Care were re-confirmed from the initial findings of an interdisciplinary national summit on integrated care in 2011 at the Advancing Integrated Mental Health Solutions (AIMS) Center at the University of Washington. As dissemination efforts grow around integrated care, it is hoped that this analysis brings attention to the Collaborative Care Model and highlights the effective implementation of quality integrated care through defining and rationalizing the essential components of Collaborative Care.

IV. ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF THE COLLABORATIVE CARE MODEL

A. Team-Driven Care

1. Definition:

A multidisciplinary group of healthcare delivery professionals providing care in a coordinated fashion and empowered to work at the top of their professional training.

Team-based Collaborative Care for mental disorders in primary care is operationalized within the Chronic Care Model framework articulated by Wagner and colleagues (E. H. Wagner, Austin, and Von Korff 1996). Team-based care is defined as a multidisciplinary group of care delivery professionals (e.g., office and support staff, nurses, CMs, PCPs, and appropriate specialists) providing and supporting care and implementing and revising the treatment plan. Broadly speaking, mental health practitioners potentially relevant to the Collaborative Care Model for mental health conditions in primary care may include a psychiatric nurse practitioner, social worker, licensed counselor or therapist, psychologist, or psychiatrist. This may be contrasted with medical model approaches involving varying degrees of "physician as treatment team." In that model, the physician fulfills most health care delivery and patient treatment roles.

2. Components:

Collaborative Care uses behavioral or general medical CMs to track the well-being and care of a population and uses psychiatrists to provide consultation to CMs and PCPs and, in some settings, direct consultative care to patients (Unützer 2002). Most studies of Collaborative Care management have relied on three main members of the health care team. These are: (a) the PCP; (b) a CM; and (c) a consulting psychiatrist (**Figure 1**). The PCP oversees the overall patient care plan and is the ultimate decision-maker for the clinical team.



Figure 1: Team Diagram of Collaborative Care Model (aims.uw.edu)

Figure 1: Dashed lines indicate less frequent methods of communication; bold lines indicate more frequent methods of communication.

The CM is the lynchpin member of the care team, linking the team to the patient and to each other. Accomplishing this often involves the use of telephone, measurement-based clinical outcome metrics (e.g., the nine-item Patient Health Questionnaire for depression [PHQ-9]) and health information/electronic medical record (EMR) technologies, such as registries, alerts, and reminders. Care managers also work to keep patients engaged in their care, assess treatment adherence, and explore treatment preferences. This information is then communicated to the team by available means (e.g., in-person, telephone, practice team meetings). The CM often prepares relevant clinical information to help ensure that periodic caseload review is accomplished efficiently when team members, including the psychiatric consultant, are present.

The consulting psychiatrist reviews the CM's caseload at routine intervals—a task often facilitated by using some or all of the health information technologies previously noted. Recommendations are formulated (e.g., medication or dosing changes, addition or discontinuation of psychosocial interventions, referral to alternative behavioral health services or assessments) for the treatment team, particularly the primary care clinician and the CM with regard to the need to change or maintain individual patient treatment plans. <u>Section VI</u> reviews the advantage of psychiatric consultation to the Collaborative Care team. The facilitated caseload review and consultative role of the psychiatrist allows for individualized case-by-case feedback to the PCP, a form of learning that most closely approximates adult learning styles and may be superior to didactic seminars or algorithmic flowcharts.

Other members of the Collaborative Care team may include a primary care-based psychologist or social worker for the purpose of patient assessment, enhancing access to evidence-based psychotherapies, and urgent assessment of a patient's potential to harm themselves or others. A nurse or mental health specialist may be appropriate in the CM role, and teams may employ other members to help patients implement their own self-management plan such as peers or community health workers. Often, CMs have training, skills, and experience in managing patients with other chronic illnesses (e.g., diabetes, cardiovascular disease) and permit simultaneous care management of patients with multiple comorbidities. Of note, meta-analyses of Collaborative Care studies for depression link characteristics of the CM to improved patient outcomes; specifically greater mental health expertise (S Gilbody, Bower, and Fletcher 2006; Bower et al. 2006) and nursing backgrounds (Thota et al. 2012).

3. Rationale:

The goal within Wagner and colleagues' notion of team-based care is "to promote a systematic, planned approach to care" for chronic health conditions (E. Wagner 2001). The advantage to this approach is its capacity for efficiency and effectiveness through: (a) productive and planned patient and provider interactions; (b) informed, activated patients and their partners; and (c) a prepared, proactive clinical team. More specifically, as the elements of team care have been employed within research trials, the rationale for team-driven care is to match the skills of team members to specific tasks designed to maximize quality of care and

produce timely and measureable patient status improvements. Many—perhaps most—patients with anxiety and depressive disorders do not improve in response to the first treatment, and a sizable proportion never adhere to the treatment plan long enough to lead to reasonable expectations of improvement. Regularly collecting valid status measurements facilitates proactive adjustment of the treatment plan when indicated, the provision of feasible self-management strategies for affected patients, and keeping patients fully engaged in their care over time. This requires diverse skill sets possessed by no single member of the treatment team. The team-driven approach also allows for internal accountability and follow-up, checks and balances, and may help protect members from burnout and turnover when managing challenging clinical scenarios (Helfrich et al. 2014).

4. Narrative Description/Case Study: Introduction to "the team".

The following section serves to facilitate better understanding of the Collaborative Care team through a clinical example.

John J. is a 48-year-old white male visiting his PCP, Dr. Stevens, for a follow-up visit for managing hypertension. During the visit, John's PHQ-9 score is taken and found to be 16, in the moderate range for major depression. John was treated by Dr. Stevens 12 months ago for depression and remains on fluoxetine 20 mg daily, to which he had a fair initial response. This is John's first PHQ-9, part of the new Collaborative Care protocol instituted by Dr. Stevens's clinic.

Dr. Stevens discusses the test results briefly with John during their clinic appointment and introduces him to Ms. Cook, a CM/behavioral health specialist with the clinic's Collaborative Care team. Ms. Cook is immediately available in the clinic to meet patients coming and going from appointments at the request of the PCP or other clinic staff. John agrees to speak with Ms. Cook after the appointment, and Ms. Cook runs through a few patient screens for behavioral health and substance use conditions that are often comorbid with major depressive disorder. John screens negatively for alcohol use or a history of mania. Ms. Cook discovers that John has recently moved out of his house, and he and his wife are separating. He is staying with a friend in town, and it has been hard for him to make it to work consistently. He often goes to bed late and sleeps in, missing his alarm in the morning, and eventually calls in sick. Ms. Cook shares some of this initial information with Dr. Stevens after their appointment, and Dr. Stevens increases John's fluoxetine to 40 mg daily. She also engages him in a behavioral activation strategy to improve his mood that includes getting together with his friend Joe over the weekend.

Three days later, Ms. Cook has her weekly meeting with Dr. Brown, the consulting psychiatrist. They discuss John, the new addition to Ms. Cook's caseload. Dr. Brown acknowledges the PHQ-9 score and the fluoxetine increase and reminds Ms. Cook of additional brief intervention techniques she has reviewed in the past with other patients. Five weeks later, during their caseload review, Dr. Brown notices John's PHQ-9 score is unchanged. Ms. Cook notes that he stopped taking the fluoxetine the week

before because of some ongoing jitteriness. Dr. Brown recommends switching to sertraline instead, and Ms. Cook conveys the recommendation to Dr. Stevens by flagging him in the electronic health record. Dr. Stevens reviews John's other medications the following day and writes a prescription for sertraline after Ms. Cook has called John to discuss the recommendations of the consulting psychiatrist. John agrees to try the sertraline. Ms. Cook reviews the side effects with John and offers her contact information in addition to Dr. Stevens's office if he has any problems with the medication. Dr. Stevens phones Dr. Brown and asks about the titration schedule of sertraline and starting dosage to confirm his management is appropriate. They agree to continue with increases in this medication with a target PHQ-9 of less than 5 if possible.

By constant communication and sharing of tasks, the Collaborative Care team can work at their optimum level of efficiency and competence and share in the management of patients in a coordinated fashion.

B. Population-Focused Care

Healthcare costs as a percentage of the U.S. gross domestic product are unsustainable. Consequently, it is clear that models of reimbursement and care delivery designed around efficacy of service delivery need to be counterbalanced by attention to the population. Collaborative Care Models are a nexus for balancing population and individual health but must incorporate principles of population management to be successful.

1. Definition:

The Collaborative Care Team is responsible for the provision of care and health outcomes of a defined population of patients.

When implemented through the lens of Collaborative Care Models, three traditional components of population health (D. Kindig and Stoddart 2003; D. A. Kindig 2007) can be modified as follows:

- (a) Health outcomes and distribution within a population By reviewing a registry list of patients each week in systematic case review, the Collaborative Care team can sort patients who need more attention regardless of their level of clinical engagement. Patients who have been receiving care coordination resources for some time without demonstrating interest in engaging also can be identified, allowing refocusing of health resources to other patients or intensification of outreach efforts.
- (b) Patterns of determinants of these outcomes Individual clinicians are accustomed to treating patients one at a time. Aggregating data on larger groups of

patients allows for identifying trends in delivery system gaps (e.g., lack of social services, addiction screening, presence of comorbid conditions such as chronic pain, financial limitations to medications), which make them easier to overcome.

(c) Relevant policies and interventions – Aggregated data and population management facilitates the systematic advocacy for improved legislative policy and system-wide interventions that are an essential component of population health (e.g., the way opiates are managed in a practice or the lack of alternatives for mentally ill patients in emergency settings needing housing or inpatient beds).

2. Components:

(a) Monitoring population outcomes

Population-based care requires effective data collection and outcome monitoring. These data typically include symptom measures (e.g., PHQ-9), process measures (e.g., access), satisfaction measures, and cost measures (e.g., emergency department utilization). A first step in population management is generally to try to reach consensus on measures that are relevant for a given practice. Standardizing the measures used and setting up a way to compare practices or sites on population outcomes is an important first step. When possible, screening tools generally also can be used to monitor outcomes. A second step in population management is to block time in the schedule to consult with those most able to react to the data with resources and authority to address systemic barriers that are discovered. When data reveal that non-evidence-based practice is occurring, a population management approach offers a way to provide information to a provider to show how he/she is not conforming to standard practice and offer support or training. Variation in outcomes should lead to exploration of important differences between treatment locations or patient populations and to teach those implementing changes about ways to adjust the approach to improve outcomes. Those involved in working with population health data need to be both at the administrative level and practice levels.

One example of a practice-based data review is in the systematic caseload review in Collaborative Care. The caseload review process requires real-time input from the consultative team of, at minimum, the psychiatrist and the CM, and population review time is protected at consistent intervals (e.g., once weekly). The psychiatrist is usually providing advice and guidance to the CM regarding the caseload of patients. This periodic "check in" allows the team the capacity to review a list of patients' health data and sort by severity to see which patients are in need of more attention or by length of treatment to see who may have reached maximum benefit. It also allows for the identification of patients lost to follow-up and in need of more proactive management.

(b) Patient-centered services

In the management of a population, it becomes more important to address problems effectively and early than to wait for them to declare themselves in an office. In the Improving

Mood Promoting Access to Collaborative Care (Unützer 2002) model of Collaborative Care, for example, a CM continues to gather information on patients utilizing whatever means are necessary (e.g., home visits, phone calls, emails, text messages, or spontaneous clinical encounters), allowing the psychiatrist to provide input to that patient's treatment team when the patient is not improving as expected and is not engaging in traditional means. There is a higher threshold for discharging the patient from care in this model, partly because there are more options available, and partly as this is an essential element of population-focused care. A patient who "no-shows" for an appointment represents an opportunity to explore more creative avenues of engagement to prevent further worsening of chronic illnesses. In addition, by being imbedded in primary care, the care coordinator has additional opportunities to connect with patients when they arrive for immunizations, refills of hypertensive medication, or the like, allowing care to be tailored to the individual in the settings most convenient to them and their lives.

(c) Raising the capacity of specialty and primary care through stepped care

A goal of population-based care within the Collaborative Care Model is to raise the capacity of the primary care system to manage behavioral health conditions. A significant portion of the work of the psychiatrist in integrated care settings is indirect, involving curbside consultations with primary care colleagues, teaching nurse care coordinators about mental health issues, and providing suggestions in the patient's record to the PCP based on the latest evidence, with enough background to do case-based teaching (Raney 2015a). Rather than requiring a patient to attend specialty behavioral health appointments and perpetual comanagement, the goal is to make sure the patient gets what he/she needs regardless of which healthcare door he/she enters and to titrate the intensity of services to the degree of patient complexity and response to treatment. Patients with less complex disorders are managed peripherally as outcomes improve. The specialist eventually intensifies treatment for complex or treatment resistant cases via more direct consultation and management. Known as "stepped care", this is an essential component of population-based care and ensures that limited specialty resources are applied judiciously to the portions of the population most in need. Utilizing this tactic opens more face-to-face time in the specialist provider schedule for more complex and difficult-to-treat patients, improving access to specialty care.

(d) Attending to social and environmental issues

Any effort to manage populations of patients and improve their outcomes will eventually run into social and environmental contributors to behavioral health disorders – homelessness, poverty, lack of insurance, crime, lack of safety in the home, obesity, lack of exercise, and more. Any of these can make a significant impact on the potential for patients to develop, maintain, and recover from mental disorders. A psychiatrist working within a Collaborative Care Model managing the population of the care team can more easily identify systematic barriers to care, advocate for social work resources in primary care clinics, encourage wellness programs to include those with mental health issues, and link the primary care system with community supports and resources.

3. Rationale

Collaborative Care Models offer unique opportunities for psychiatrists to impact populations and use skills critical to population management. Projected psychiatric workforce shortages are already significant and will continue to grow, demanding judicious use of scarce specialist resources (P. Wang et al. 2005; Swartz 2011; Thomas et al. 2009). Given that there will continue to be ongoing shortages in access to specialty mental healthcare, systems that proactively identify populations at risk and track their outcomes across time will allow for more rapid triage of clinical presentations to appropriate levels of consultation and preservation of limited resources.

Adherence to follow-up and medication therapy for behavioral health conditions is notoriously poor (P. S. Wang et al. 2005; Bogner 2013; Velligan et al. 2010). Through the use of population-based registries to track outcomes and make follow-up recommendations to modify treatment plans, persons failing to remain engaged with care or adherent to therapies can be more easily identified, and strategies to engage them can be employed with increasing levels of creativity and intensity (stepped care). Consequently, population-focused management is an essential feature of Collaborative Care Models and may contribute largely to their efficacy in treatment adherence (Lin et al. 2004; Lin et al. 2012). An important aspect of populationfocused management is the ability to apply evidence-based recommendations with sometimes relatively limited clinical information. This is made possible by systematic management by a trusted team of colleagues performing longitudinal evaluation (Cerimele et al. 2014). The failure to implement a quality population-based registry of cases severely weakens the capacity for this vital systematic follow-up. Population management thus offers a way to spread limited psychiatric resources over a larger population, to implement and monitor evidence-based strategies more broadly, to engage patients who are inefficiently using the healthcare system, and to learn from outcomes of groups of patients at multiple sites to inform better care delivery and advocate for improved care models within the greater community.

4. Case Study

The following section serves to illustrate population-based care through the ongoing Collaborative Care team clinical example.

Five weeks after his last appointment, John remains depressed. He did not return Dr. Stevens's last call regarding some recent lab results, and he no-showed one appointment. During their weekly caseload review, John is eighth on Ms. Cook's list of 58 patients when sorted by PHQ-9 score severity which leads to a case review. Their registry of patients also has flagged John's PHQ-9 as overdue and above their target. As she and Dr. Brown are reviewing all the patients, they review John's score and with the information in the registry are able to quickly recall his latest treatment plan, including the sertraline recommendations. Dr. Stevens did write the prescription, but Ms. Cook is unsure what happened after that. She attempted to call John about 1 week after the sertraline was prescribed and left him a message that wasn't returned. Ms. Cook and Dr.

Brown agree that John needs increased outreach given his recent depression and lack of engagement, and Ms. Cook takes on this task over the next week. They then move on to Sue after spending about 5 minutes discussing John.

Through the course of an hour, Dr. Brown and Ms. Cook review all of the patients in the caseload who are still not at target (on this particular day this was 22 of the 58 patients in the registry), rapidly triaging clinical scenarios with Dr. Brown and offering treatment suggestions or follow-up suggestions for those with unmet clinical needs. They allocate time and effort through an agreed-upon order: 1) new patients, 2) follow-up patients not yet at target or not improving, 3) patients not engaging in care, and 4) patients in remission, saving two or three complex patients for consistent check-in as time allows every week. Sometimes they do not discuss patients in remission unless certain problems arise. They review patients for possible discharge from the program who have met their clinical goals for 3 months with minimal care management (their program's discharge criteria) so as to open up more slots on Ms. Cook's caseload for new referrals, since 60 is her maximum. In this particular caseload review session, they identify two patients with more complicated personality traits and comorbid substance use disorders for referral to the local Community Mental Health Center (CMHC) for more intensive treatment. They identify one patient in need of housing and benefits assistance from the clinic social worker. The two referral patients will remain on Ms. Cook's caseload under consultation from Dr. Brown and management by Dr. Stevens until they make their first CMHC appointments. Dr. Brown makes a note to call the CMHC administrator to work out an easier referral process from their clinic.

The following day, Ms. Cook writes a letter from the clinic to John offering assistance and begins to call more frequently. Three days later, John calls back, and he discloses that he never picked up the sertraline and was not sure he was worth the attention of the team. He reports that he didn't want to feel like a failure again or let anyone down. John's PHQ-9 score over the phone is 18, and Ms. Cook screens John for suicidal ideation, which is negative. She provides some education around depressive symptoms, the role of the team, and their desire to help him feel better. John agrees to pick up the sertraline from the pharmacy and check-in with Ms. Cook before the weekend to report on how he's tolerating it.

Population-based care allows the Collaborative Care team to focus efforts on persons not improving or engaging well with care and rapidly link patients to other clinical or community-based resources as necessary.

C. Measurement-Guided Care

One of the core elements of Collaborative Care is measurement-guided or measurement-based care (MBC). This is also known as "treat-to-target" care. Because the

proactive longitudinal follow-up of patients by the CM involves repeated assessments of symptom severity, the Collaborative Care team can use this information to determine whether patients have experienced a treatment response. Because MBC facilitates the recognition of patients who are deteriorating or not improving as expected, it prompts the care team to adjust the treatment plan, thereby reducing clinical inertia – the failure to modify treatment regimens when outcomes are not met. Clinical inertia has been identified as a significant barrier to receipt of optimal treatment and chronic disease outcomes (Schmittdiel et al. 2008). In the Collaborative Care Model, these patient-reported outcomes and MBC are critical to the weekly case reviews conducted by the CM and consulting psychiatrist.

1. Definitions

The team uses systematic, disease-specific, patient-reported outcome measures (e.g., symptom rating scales) to drive clinical decision-making.

Measurement-based care has been defined as the "enhanced precision and consistency in disease assessment, tracking, and treatment to achieve optimal outcomes" (Harding et al. 2011). Measurement-based care involves the systematic use of disease-specific, patientreported outcome measures (i.e., symptom rating scales) to drive clinical decision-making. Symptom rating scales, such as the nine-item PHQ-9 for depression (Arroll and Goodyear-Smith 2010) are brief structured instruments that patients use to report their perceptions about the frequency and/or severity of the psychiatric symptoms they are experiencing. Measurementbased care seeks to optimize the accuracy and efficiency of symptom assessment in order to facilitate the recognition of patients who are not responding to treatment. Measurement-based care also facilitates the use of treatment guidelines and algorithms which specify clinical decision nodes based on whether the patient is experiencing a full, partial, or no response to treatment (Unützer and Park 2012). As such, it is a key component to evidence-based care. In addition, patients who regularly complete self-reported rating scales are likely to become more knowledgeable about their disorders, attuned to their symptoms, and cognizant of the warning signs of relapse or reoccurrence, thus enabling them to better self-manage their illness (Valenstein et al. 2009).

2. Components

Not all approaches to MBC are effective. A Cochrane review of depression screening (i.e., annual assessment of symptoms) found that patients with depression randomized to depression screening do not have better outcomes than patients randomized to no depression screening (Simon Gilbody, Sheldon, and House 2008). In addition, *patient-reported* outcome measures should be used for MBC rather than *clinicians' ratings* of their patients' symptoms, which are often biased and fail to detect deterioration (Hatfield et al. 2009). For MBC to be effective there is also good evidence that the patient-reported outcomes must be collected frequently and incorporated into multiple clinical encounters over time, including caseload reviews (Schmidt et al. 2006; Slade et al. 2006; Fihn et al. 2004).

For the patient-reported outcome measures to be clinically actionable (i.e., able to inform clinical decision-making), the symptom rating scale data must be current, interpretable, and easily available during the clinical encounter. If the symptom severity data are outdated or presented to the provider outside the context of the clinical encounter, this is not actionable and is not considered to be MBC. In addition to being current, interpretable, available, and usable by the provider during the clinical encounter, the instruments used to measure symptom severity must be reliable (i.e., consistent across repeated measurements when there is no change in symptom severity) and sensitive to change (i.e., able to detect clinically meaningful changes in severity) (Smith et al. 1997; Kerr et al. 2001). **Table 2** outlines the key principles of MBC.

Table 2: Key Principles of Measurement-Based Care

Six Components of Effective Measurement

- 1. Measurement alone is not enough; outcomes must be incorporated into the clinical encounter.
- 2. Patient-reported outcomes are more accurate than clinician-reported outcomes.
- 3. Measures must be collected frequently to accurately assess the most recent clinical state.
- 4. Measures must be tightly correlated to the illness state and are typically diagnosisspecific.
- 5. Instruments must be reliable and sensitive to change.
- 6. Methods must be relatively simple to implement and low cost.

3. Rationale

While the relative contribution of MBC to the overall effectiveness of Collaborative Care has not been established empirically, MBC on its own is one of the most widely studied elements of Collaborative Care. Virtually all randomized controlled trials with frequent and timely feedback of patient-reported symptoms to the provider during clinical encounters have found that it significantly improves outcomes (Harmon et al. 2007; Hawkins et al. 2006; Murphy, Rashleigh, and Timulak 2012; Reese, Norsworthy, and Rowlands 2009; Reese et al. 2010; W. Simon et al. 2012; Slade et al. 2006; Whipple et al. 2003; Lambert et al. 2002; Bickman et al. 2011; Brodey et al. 2005; Knaup et al. 2009; Krägeloh et al. 2015). A meta-analysis of nearly 300 therapists and 6,000 patients found that only 22% of patients randomized to usual care experienced symptom improvement compared to 38% of patients randomized to a MBC group (Shimokawa, Lambert, and Smart 2010). Based on these findings, it is highly likely that MBC contributes to the overall effectiveness of Collaborative Care. Moreover, in an implementation study of MBC with over 3,000 patients, 100% of psychiatrists rated the symptom rating scales as helpful for monitoring response to treatment (Sachs et al. 2003).

Measurement-based care also can facilitate communication across providers working within the context of Collaborative Care. For example, the patient-reported symptom severity scores collected by CMs are shared with the PCP and consulting psychiatrist to focus the team based care on treat-to-target goals (Unützer et al. 2012). In addition, patients have positive perceptions of symptom rating scales and reported that they helped them increase their understanding of their illness and better express themselves to their provider (Dowrick et al. 2009). Finally, MBC will soon be required by health plans and accreditation agencies. For example, the National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA) has proposed depression symptom monitoring with the PHQ-9 and response/remission rates as health plan performance measures for the 2016 Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set ("National Committee for Quality Assurance: Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS)" 2013).

4. Case Study

The following section serves to illustrate MBC through the ongoing Collaborative Care team clinical example.

John, the patient, calls Ms. Cook, the CM, on Friday and reports that he picked up the sertraline and is taking it without side effects but doesn't feel much different after 2 days. Ms. Cook reassures John that this is not unusual, and that he needs to stick with the medication for 4-6 weeks at the right dose sometimes before his mood may change. They make a plan to check in once a week.

In 4 weeks, John's PHQ-9 score has gone from an 18 to a 15, and he is tolerating the sertraline without any problems. Dr. Brown, the consulting psychiatrist, recommends they titrate the dose to a higher level and continue to monitor John's response. Dr. Stevens, the PCP, writes a new prescription for John; Ms. Cook confirms that he picks it up at the pharmacy and takes it; and after another 4 weeks, his PHQ-9 is 13. John reports that he is feeling better and has applied for a new job. He and his wife are fighting less, and they are talking about having him move back in. In spite of these gains, however, Ms. Cook discusses John's remaining symptoms of prominent guilt and negative self-worth and poor quality sleep, energy, and concentration coupled to overeating—all of which contribute to his current score. They formulate a plan to begin more regular exercise. Because his PHQ-9 is still above 5, Dr. Brown's advice is to continue to titrate the sertraline to the maximum daily dosage, noting his steady improvements.

Four weeks later, John's PHQ-9 score is 5. He reports that he feels like his old self again, has moved back in with his wife, is exercising more regularly now, and starting to lose some excess weight.

The use of patient-reported outcomes and standardized measures can provide for valuable patient education experiences, attention to ongoing symptomatology in the context of sub-threshold clinical improvement, and facilitate more robust treatment response.

D. Evidence-Based Care

Evidence-based care utilizes principles of decision support connected to measurementbased outcomes to help facilitate the efficiency of the Collaborative Care team in population management.

1. Definition

The team adapts scientifically proven treatments within an individual clinical context to achieve improved health outcomes.

Evidence-based care refers to the application of proven treatments within an individual clinical context to achieve MBC outcomes. Evidence-based care is defined by Sackett and colleagues as the "conscientious, explicit, and judicious use of current best evidence in making decisions about the care of individual patients" (Sackett et al. 1996). Evidence-based care incorporates data from systematic research into the clinical decision-making process while tailoring general disease management strategies to the individual.

2. Components

Several components of evidence-based care emerge within the context of Collaborative Care.

Identification of modifiable Measurement-Based Care outcomes is possible.

There must be a clinical scenario that is definable which allows for the application of existing systematic research data. This clinical scenario must have measurable outcomes that, when achieved, directly result in improved quality of life and individual functioning. While this may seem obvious, many clinical implementations of integrated care choose to focus on outcome measures for which there are no definable evidence-based treatments available. Abstract clinical measures such as quality of life, inpatient hospitalization, or generalized risk scores are enticing to include but often offer little guidance to healthcare personnel lacking a proven evidence-base for treating complexity. Such scores often represent down-stream endpoints that encompass a more complex mix of biological, sociological, and psychological risk. This is in contrast to successful Collaborative Care interventions that select clinically definable and measurable outcomes such as the PHQ-9 or hemoglobin A1C values that are directly related to clinical illness severity.

Evidence-Based treatments exist.

Evidence-based care presupposes that treatments exist for the clinical scenario in question and that the treatments are efficacious, reliable, and proven to improve outcomes and quality of life. Ideally, these treatments are relatively inexpensive and well-tolerated. Furthermore, the treatments should be as "tightly linked" to the outcome measured as possible so that treatment intensification efforts are accurately reflected in outcomes and severity of illness is quantified (Kerr et al. 2001; Selby 2009).

Collaborative Care teams must have confidence in the dose of treatments offered so that failure to achieve a clinical outcome after the application of treatment is more easily dichotomized to poor treatment adherence/delivery or failure of response. This confidence is offered through the reliance on existing clinical evidence, allowing for some increased degree of predictability in response. An example is treatment for major depressive disorder. Through a robust evidence base, clinicians can be relatively confident that evidence-based treatment with pharmacotherapy and/or psychotherapy is effective in achieving remission of depressive symptoms for approximately 60-70% of patients. Psychotherapeutic interventions employed for depression care in the IMPACT model include Problem Solving Therapy and Behavioral Activation – two evidence-based approaches to depression management in primary care (Linde et al. 2015). Given this evidence-based expectation, Collaborative Care teams can more readily identify underlying causes for lack of clinical improvement. Evidence-based care allows clinical teams to be confident in their treatment efforts while also providing for judicious use of limited resources to maximize efficacy.

Standardized, stepped care algorithms can be employed.

Evidence-based care is most effective when treatment algorithms are standardized and levels of treatment intensification are commonly accepted among practitioners as a standard of care. This "stepped care" approach allows for a more rapid application of a treatment intensity framework for individual patients and facilitates the caseload review process and population management. Whenever possible, this should be driven by evidence and is often assimilated in guidelines for clinical management. One essential element of the Collaborative Care Model is the presence of treatment guidelines; education materials for patients, clinicians, and CMs; and ongoing trainings offered to ensure that the treatment team is delivering the most up-to-date therapies. One advantage of the Collaborative Care Model is the ability to disseminate evidence-based treatments rapidly through a population-based approach and systematic quality improvement.

Diabetes is an excellent example of this approach. The hemoglobin A1C value and the current therapies identify the level of treatment intensification necessary and are amenable to well-standardized algorithmic approaches. For example, an individual naïve to treatment with a hemoglobin A1c of 10.1% with type 2 diabetes should receive both metformin and insulin therapy from the beginning of treatment to achieve the total reduction in A1c necessary – metformin alone will likely be insufficient ("7. Approaches to Glycemic Treatment" 2014). This

knowledge is culled from the accumulated evidence-base in diabetes and is reflected in current diabetes guidelines.

3. Rationale

While the practice of evidence-based care extends back several decades, the application of this within Collaborative Care stems from the original Chronic Care Model which was formulated originally around diabetes care (E. H. Wagner, Austin, and Von Korff 1996). An essential element of any chronic illness management is the use of clinical decision supports to guide treatment intensification and improve outcomes. Clinical decision supports are simply the application of systematic research evidence to individual cases when possible and aid clinicians in rapidly assessing a clinical scenario and applying treatments with predictable chances of success. Population-based care, rapid assessment, and treatment intensification are not possible for clinical scenarios for which there is no commonly accepted evidence-base for treatment. Having standard guidelines also allows for shared agreement and buy-in amongst consultants and primary practitioners in chronic illness management. The Collaborative Care team can provide the algorithmic, population-focused management advice which can be counterbalanced by the PCP and CM's patient-level experience and input, overcoming barriers in clinical inertia and failure of treatment intensification commonly encountered in chronic illness management (Lin et al. 2012; Schmittdiel et al. 2008).

4. Narrative Description/Case Study:

The following section serves to illustrate evidence-based care through the ongoing Collaborative Care team clinical example.

Two months after John achieved early remission from his depression, Ms. Cook calls him for a routine check-in. He notes that he stopped taking the sertraline for a couple of weeks right after their last conversation and had a relapse of some of his symptoms. His PHQ-9 score has jumped from 5 to 13, and John is feeling embarrassed and shameful. He resumed his sertraline at 200 mg about a month ago but still struggles with energy and has stopped his workout routine. Dr. Brown suggests that they augment the sertraline with bupropion, and Dr. Stevens writes the prescription for John.

One month later, John's PHQ-9 score is 10, and Ms. Cook engages him with Behavioral Activation focused on his exercise regimen again. They discuss the cycle of inaction, guilt, and depression, and John agrees to experiment with a different workout regimen and assess his mood. Dr. Stevens automatically adjusts his bupropion to a higher level since he is tolerating it well, and 1 month later John's PHQ-9 score is 4.

This clinical scenario depicts the use of treatment algorithms for depression care. After a relapse and partial response to sertraline at maximum dosage, Dr. Brown employed evidence from the Sequenced Treatment Alternatives to Relieve Depression (STAR*D) study (Rush et al. 2006) to augment with bupropion, and Dr. Stevens recognized the algorithmic step and ensured

that John was prescribed an appropriate dosage. Additionally, Ms. Cook employed a psychotherapy technique proven to be effective in the management of depression in primary care, Behavioral Activation Therapy (Linde et al. 2015). Through consistent application of evidence-based care, John was able to achieve remission of his depressive symptoms after his relapse.

V. ACCOUNTABILITY, QUALITY IMPROVEMENT AND MEASUREMENT

Successful implementation and ongoing maintenance of a Collaborative Care program requires many new system processes to achieve each of the four essential elements. Often, these processes are complex and include different clinical roles, workflows, and team makeup. There may also be increased demands on the system; including new or different training, communications, information technology, facility needs, and others. A systematic, quality improvement framework is thus required in order to assure that all of these processes are coordinated and effective.

A. Definitions

Two aspects of accountability and quality improvement surface repeatedly in Collaborative Care implementations, and include:

(a) Performance Measurement: The process of evaluating how well organizations are managed and the value they deliver for customers and other stakeholders (Moullin 2002).

(b) Pay-for-Performance / Value Based Purchasing: The process of paying providers to meet quality goals (Rosenthal et al. 2004; Rosenthal et al. 2005).

B. Rationale and Key Elements

The improvement seen in clinical outcomes derived from Collaborative Care is thought to be achieved via the four core structural elements of the model: care that is (a) team-driven, (b) population-focused, (c) measurement-guided, and (d) evidence-based. As important as these elements are to achieving better clinical outcomes, they also in sum create a framework for transparent accountability at multiple levels and with various participants – including the patient and clinical providers. Patient-Reported Outcomes Measures (PROMs) – structured self-report patient outcome measures – are being increasingly utilized by payers and accreditors to hold provider entities accountable for the health outcomes of populations served. For example, the National Council of Quality Assurance (http://www.ncqa.org) has included screening (and soon to include remission rate measurement) for depression as measured by the PHQ-9 as one of the measures for comparing health care plan performance levels in their 2015/2016 HEDIS measures for comparing health plan performance.

The use of PROMs creates new opportunities to demonstrate the value of Collaborative Care Models to patients and provider teams themselves. Through the use of self-reported measures individual patients can, together with their clinician, review data and determine whether clinical goals are met or whether care plans need to be adjusted. The clinician and patient together can use clinical outcomes data to help discern which clinical modalities and methods are most effective. This empowers the patient towards the maximal amount of selfmanagement in his or her own care. Clinicians, in turn, are able to periodically review their caseloads in order to assess which patients are not improving as expected, or whether a change in care or treatment strategy is indicated. This is important, because clinicians often are unable to make this determination using clinical judgment alone (Hatfield et al. 2009). In effect, patients and their clinicians become "agents of quality assurance" for their own care and practices (respectively). The same process can occur at the clinical team level, clinical program level, agency level, and the like. Data can be "rolled up" to display caseload, practice, or population summary reports for the purposes of practice monitoring, professional development, and program improvement.

Clinical outcomes measures like the PHQ-9 may serve as the primary clinical outcome measure for a program. However, for ongoing program success, programs should consider secondary process measures as well. Though one might think that the process of care is not relevant as long as the expected outcomes are achieved, expert consensus is that the means of achieving clinical goals are important. This is partially because the use of patient outcomes measures alone has not been associated with improved outcomes (Simon Gilbody, Sheldon, and House 2008). However, it also appears that use of process measures are important to help guide clinicians and leaders in assuring the necessary steps that are required for programmatic success, such as screening rates, access rates, financial stewardship, and service timeliness. Without attention to the processes, there can be an erosion of fidelity to the core processes required to achieve clinical outcomes, and ultimately an erosion of the expected outcomes themselves. Thus, a mixture of process and clinical-outcome measurements is required.

By utilizing this data in the context of caseload consultation, the Collaborative Care psychiatric consultant is in an optimal position for assuring fidelity with the Collaborative Care core processes. Throughout his/her medical school and residency training, the psychiatrist is trained to evaluate using a differential diagnosis, oversee, and suggest changes to patient care plans. The psychiatric consultant draws on this expertise in order to give education, guidance, and care recommendations for individual patients. Collaborative Care experts believe that the benefits of the model arise not only from WHAT services are offered but also HOW that care is coordinated and WHEN the services are given. Thus, the psychiatric consultant is often called upon to provide team leadership around the roles, functions, workflows, and other processes in the delivery of Collaborative Care.

Evidence-based, accountable care occurs only with intention. In a constantly changing environment of care, a structured and continuous quality improvement strategy is critical for initial and ongoing success. Programs that fail to create a system for ongoing process improvement are especially vulnerable to drifting back into non-collaborative and nonevidence-based patterns of care. From the outset, programs should have a plan for periodically monitoring their success in achieving the target population's intended clinical outcomes as well as monitoring fidelity to the clinical model. These reassessments allow teams and leaders to make necessary changes to the vision and action plan and to review the process of bringing on new staff. These also make for a great opportunity to celebrate clinical successes and reenergize teams (UW AIMS Center 2015). This ongoing quality improvement process touches all levels and functions of an organization. Fortunately, a number of practice change models and methods exist, such as the Institute for Healthcare Improvement Collaborative Model (IHI 2003).

C. Narrative Description/Case Study: Measures for Quality Improvement

The following section serves to illustrate accountability and quality improvement through the ongoing Collaborative Care team clinical example.

Ms. Cook, the CM, checks in with the clinic supervisor for the Collaborative Care program who helps to oversee the performance of all the CMs in the program. At Ms. Cook's last check-in about 3 months ago, her rates of depression remission or response as measured by a PHQ-9 of less than 5 or greater than 50% reduction from original PHQ-9 score, respectively, for patients enrolled at least 6 months in the program were on par with her colleagues at the same clinic – around 45%. However, this quarter her rates have dropped to about 30%. The clinical supervisor and she review her caseload turnover, which is also about the same as the other CMs, as is the severity of her patients based on her average initial PHQ-9 score. One notable exception is the number of patients discussed during the weekly caseload review process with Dr. Brown, which has dropped considerably. Ms. Cook notes that they rarely get through all the caseload now, as opposed to the beginning of their work together, sometimes discussing only 4 or 5 patients in an hour, leaving little time to consider others who still have uncontrolled symptoms but don't seem as complicated. She considers one case recently, John, who suffered a relapse in his depression after she hadn't made contact in about 5 weeks.

Ms. Cook talked with another CM in her clinic who managed to maintain his response rate consistently around 55% and discovered that the other CM made it a point to check in with everyone in some capacity (e.g., phone, in-person, email) at least once every 2 weeks until their remission had lasted 3 months. She sets up a rotating schedule to call all her patients over the course of 2 weeks at a minimum regardless of their status (though sometimes more). She also will share the process and outcome results with Dr. Brown to help focus their caseload review process, ensuring that all of the caseload is considered at standard intervals.

Paying attention to both process and outcome measures can help to ensure that vital elements of Collaborative Care implementation, including population-based care (as shown above), are thoroughly implemented and ongoing monitoring is available to protect against programmatic drift.

VI. UNIQUE ATTRIBUTES OF PSYCHIATRISTS IN THE COLLABORATIVE CARE MODEL

Psychiatrists have integral roles on several levels to ensure success in Collaborative Care Models (Raney 2015a). Psychiatrists provide an effective combination of knowledge and skills for the Collaborative Care environment, given their background in medical and behavioral health fields as well as scientific and clinical authority to provide definitive recommendations in complex diagnoses and treatment regimens that involve both psychopharmacology and psychotherapy. Psychiatrists also offer leadership and accountability in caseload consultation, population management, medico-legal liability, and triage of potential clinical crises.

1. Training in both Medicine and Behavioral Health

The most common reasons for psychiatric consultation in Collaborative Care are diagnostic clarification and psychopharmacologic recommendations (Norfleet, Ratzliff, and Chan 2015; Raney 2015a). The psychiatrist on the team has the breadth and depth to clarify how psychiatric symptoms present within the primary care setting and the medical conditions that may mimic them. This background in psychiatric care of medically ill persons is gained during residency training rotations, followed by clinical experience or further training related to psychiatry in medical settings. Psychiatrists in Collaborative Care settings bring knowledge of latest evidence based pharmacological and non-pharmacological treatments, comfort in managing patients with medical illnesses, understand principles of handling drug-drug interactions, and skills in working with multi-disciplinary medical care teams.

Psychiatric diagnoses most commonly encountered in Collaborative Care programs include depressive disorders, anxiety disorders, bipolar disorder, personality disorders, substance use disorders, and somatic symptom disorders (Norfleet, Ratzliff, and Chan 2015). Although the most robust evidence base for Collaborative Care Models are in depression and anxiety, patients within primary care clinics present with a variety of primary conditions or comorbid behavioral health concerns, many of which can also be managed in the Collaborative Care framework. Furthermore, psychiatrists maintain proficiency in medical communication that may otherwise limit the adoption of some treatment recommendations by a PCP. Such experience and training may overcome barriers to implementation such as PCP engagement. Similar to primary care physicians, consultant psychiatrists within Collaborative Care should be "generalists" – willing to adapt practice styles and scope, as able, to the demands of the clinical situation and needs of their colleagues (Raney 2015a).

2. Educating others in applying evidence-based practice

Medication recommendations are a frequent request for Collaborative Care psychiatrists; discussing the rationale for a particular recommended treatment is often helpful for ensuring implementation, adherence, and education of the patient and team members. For example, a written recommendation for a specific antidepressant may include an explanation of why that particular one was chosen. These collegial and informative communications are invaluable in gaining "buy-in" from PCPs, which often helps to shore up institutional support through positive PCP feedback. Furthermore, psychiatrists have the skill set necessary to evaluate the evidence-base across all treatment paradigms and operationalize evidence-based care within given clinical contexts. Through repeated consultation around specific patient scenarios, the psychiatric consultant is able to build the capacity of the PCP to confidently and competently treat a variety of psychiatric disorders.

3. Collaboration, Consultation, and Partnership with Primary Care

Working with PCPs in a Collaborative Care Model requires they understand the psychiatric consultant's role in assisting and supporting their management of psychiatric illness they may consider to be beyond their scope of expertise. Working as a team targeting outcomes, while having the patients remain under the PCP's care, requires significant trust from the PCP that you are available and employed in their best interest. Although this type of support from psychiatry will likely be seen as new (and unexpected) to most PCPs, an emphasis on trust-building is essential for a successful partnership. This process may begin with a face-toface meeting, perhaps during downtime at the primary care clinic, where introductions are made and the Collaborative Care Model described. These opportunities may be reinforced with future meetings during which the psychiatrist provides the PCP with algorithms for diagnosis and treatment of common mental illnesses, such as depression and anxiety. Additionally, these meetings provide an opportunity to elicit feedback from the PCPs, which enhances the perception that this is indeed collaboration. It is important for the PCP to have access to the psychiatrist for questions, which may be informal "curbsides" or even urgent questions. Skills in providing informal consultation are crucial to the relationship and require some time to master (Raney 2015a). Contact by HIPAA-compliant electronic messages, cell phone calls, and pages are often encouraged as opportunities to communicate and obtain consultation.

Indeed, one advantage of psychiatrist participation in Collaborative Care Models is more ready access to emergent or urgent consultation and advice for urgent or life-threatening clinical situations which otherwise would not have been available. With the longitudinal nature of the consultant team's relationship, patterns in behavior that may differ and point to alternative diagnoses allow for novel clinical evaluation methods that also were not previously available, and more rapid triage of more complex situations to an appropriate level of care (i.e., an initial presentation of bipolar disorder as depression with no known history of mania converts to hypomania which may have previously been lost to follow-up).

4. Team Leadership, Vision, and Accountability

By virtue of their extended training and expertise in managing complex situations, psychiatrists are often called upon to provide guidance, leadership, and accountability to the Collaborative Care team, though it should be noted that each member of the team is treated with equal respect and mutual admiration. The cultures of primary care and behavioral health differ in many ways and the psychiatrist, trained in both worlds of general medicine and

psychiatry, can help mitigate problems that may occur as these cultures come together in the Collaborative Care Model.

Psychiatrists possessing skills in population management who review all patients in a particular caseload in accordance with clinical severity are ensuring the team is held responsible to the provision of evidence-based care across the population. Their consultant relationship helps to guarantee that they remain appropriately distant from clinical situations allowing for objectivity, creativity, and momentum to overcome clinical inertia. This distance is in contrast to the expected closeness of the CM and the PCP, and provides an essential checks and balances system when implemented correctly.

5. Medico-Legal Liability

When participating as a member of a Collaborative Care team, care is taken to clarify malpractice liability risks. Current literature and case law suggest the relative risk of curbside consultation is minimal, and that the medico-legal risk to a psychiatrist for providing organized advice on a patient not physically seen (indirect consultation, the most frequent role in this model) is less than for providing direct care as the patient is under the principal care of another provider (Olick and Bergus). During systematic caseload review, it is helpful to record team discussions to help track treatment history and follow-up, with the added statement in the team note explaining that the patient was not directly seen. Furthermore, as the expectation remains that the patient continues under the direct care of the PCP, who may or may not choose to take the recommendation offered, the clarification that "treatment plan recommendations provided in the course of this consultation should not supplant clinical judgment and are offered through data derived from the CM without direct patient consultation" could be included in all communications. Ready access to a specialist with expertise in both diagnosis and management helps to alleviate medico-legal concerns that inevitably arise when managing behavioral health disorders in the community.

VII. IN-VIVO IMPLEMENTATIONS OF COLLABORATIVE CARE MODELS

Introduction

Implementation of Collaborative Care requires extensive systematic change on multiple levels that span from the provider workflows and task shifting traditional roles, to payment and reimbursement reform. As such, bringing the Collaborative Care Model to scale is difficult. This section attempts to provide practices, health systems, and policy makers with actual implementation examples, highlighting each program's history, methods of implementation of the four essential elements, attention to accountability, funding mechanism(s), and lessons learned. Attempts were made to draw broadly across different services and payer types.

A. Washington State Mental Health Integration Program (MHIP)

1. Background & History

The Washington State Mental Health Integration Program (MHIP) was created in 2007 in partnership between the Community Health Plan of Washington (CHPW, a not-for-profit health plan), Seattle-King County Department of Public Health, and the AIMS Center at the University of Washington. The program was initially piloted in two of Washington State's most populous counties. Program data from the first years of 2008 and 2009 showed that, compared to counties without MHIP, the target population in MHIP counties had 17% fewer inpatient medical admissions and smaller increases in inpatient psychiatric costs (21% vs. 167%) over the review period. Compared to those that did not receive services, health plan enrollees who received MHIP services had a larger decrease in number of arrests (24% decline in MHIP clients), a smaller increase in those living in homeless shelters or outdoors (50% vs. 100%), and a smaller increase in days spent in state hospitals (33% vs. 500%) (Joesch 2011). Partially because of these positive results, the MHIP program was expanded statewide in 2009. During the first 14 months of statewide implementation, the state saved an estimated \$11.2 million in hospital costs alone (Community Health Centers: Behavioral Health Integration 2013). The program has now been in continuous operation for over 8 years and has served over 45,000 patients in more than 150 community health centers.

2. Program Description

The program was initially patterned after the IMPACT program developed by the University of Washington (Unützer 2002). Like the IMPACT model, the MHIP program incorporates core components of team-based care, use of a clinical behavioral health (BH) CM, and use of a psychiatric caseload consultant. In addition to the PHQ-9, patients also were screened for anxiety and substance use conditions. Over time, additional screening tools have been incorporated into the care model, including symptom rating scales, functional rating scales, and important medical markers, such as glycosylated hemoglobin (hemoglobin A1C, HbA1c) and LDL cholesterol.

Appropriate and eligible patients are identified via standardized screening (such as the PHQ-9) or via referral by the PCP. Whenever possible, "warm handoff" referrals are utilized, connecting the BH CM immediately to the patient. The BH CM also has a primary role of coordination of referrals and care transitions – including referral to specialty mental health when indicated, once patients are enrolled in the MHIP program.

3. Adaptation of Essential Collaborative Care Elements

(a) Team-Driven and Evidence-Based Care

The MHIP program emphasizes a team-based care model, as depicted in **Figure 1**. In this model, the patient and primary care provider are joined by the BH CM and the psychiatric consultant in the care of the MHIP patient. In many clinics, BH CMs work alongside the primary

care team, whereas in smaller clinics a BH CM may work at another location but serve clients at the smaller clinic.

The BH CM serves a central role in MHIP care team – coordinating care, managing referrals and transitions, and assisting in medication reconciliation. The BH CM also plays the important role of providing brief, evidence-based treatments. BH CMs receive ongoing training in these practices via live trainings and recorded webinars.

The psychiatric consultant provides regular (usually weekly) caseload reviews with the CM for the purpose of ensuring population review for the assigned caseload. During the consultations, the psychiatrist assists with diagnosis and formulation and makes recommendations regarding medications, psychotherapy, and patient management. Recommendations are documented in a caseload review note that is forwarded to the PCP. The consultant remains available throughout the week by telephone to assist the care team in the event of additional questions. The psychiatric consultants are often available either in person or by telepsychiatry for direct patient care consultations for more complex clinical questions or concerns.

(b) Population-Focused Care and Measurement-Guided Care

A web-based tracking system, described by the AIMS Center (Unützer et al. 2002) is utilized to help support systematic outcome tracking and quality improvement. The MHIP registry captures clinical diagnoses assigned by clinicians working with patients and clinical outcomes using validated clinical rating scales, such as the PHQ-9 for depression (Arroll and Goodyear-Smith 2010). This information is gathered for all participants at an initial assessment and at each subsequent contact with a BH CM. The care registry displays individual and caseload summary data to the BH CM, who in turn utilizes this information to make care decisions. A key emphasis is review of patients who are not improving, with an aim of adjusting the care plan as needed.

4. Quality Improvement and Accountability

Initial experience with this program showed high levels of variation between programs as measured by PHQ-9 and Generalized Anxiety Disorders-7 (GAD-7) population-level outcomes. To help address this variation, real-time clinical reports were created and embedded into the care registry tool. These reports contained several key clinical indicators, including timely follow-up of patients, tracking medication lists, and the provision of psychiatric consultation for patients who were not improving. The CMs and consulting psychiatrists were trained in how to utilize this data when making care plans and prioritizing services. For instance, the timely follow-up measure often was utilized to determine whether a patient might benefit from an outreach call.

These measures were further reinforced financially – approximately 5% of their annual reimbursement per measure was tied to achieving each one of these quality measures, a
procedure known as "pay-for-performance." As shown in **Figure 2**, the implementation of these quality measures successfully improved overall care by demonstrating a 50% shorter time to achieve a 50% reduction PHQ-9 score (or achieving a score less than 10). Though this study was not able to separate the effects of providing the real time feedback from pay-for-performance stimulus, it is likely that both were factors in improving outcomes (Unützer et al. 2012).





5. Funding

The program was initially funded by the state legislature and administered by the notfor-profit CHPW for the General Assistance Unemployable (GAU) recipients in two of Washington State's most populous counties. Shortly thereafter, the program received additional funding for veterans and their families, underinsured persons, older adults, and pregnant women and new mothers under voter-approved levy funds and administered by the Seattle-King County Department of Public Health. The program was further expanded statewide in 2009 under similar funding arrangements based on the demonstrated early success mentioned above. In 2014, the Medicaid expansion resulted in termination of the GAU program as these recipients became eligible for Medicaid. The program was continued as a treatment option for patients who selected CHPW as their Medicaid insurance carrier.

6. Lessons Learned

a. Primary care-centered Collaborative Care is possible in a high-needs safety net population.

Prior to the initiation of this program, there was little recorded experience of the effectiveness of providing primary care integration services to safety net populations. The Joesch et al. report (Joesch 2011) showed early evidence that Collaborative Care can

demonstrate quick and demonstrable population improvements and system cost savings. This encouraging data suggested that Collaborative Care programs can be effective in safety net populations in both bending the cost curve AND improving clinical outcomes.

b. Systematic uses of process and outcomes measures that are built into clinician workflows are important for program success.

As reported in the accountability section above, the incorporation of a combination of both real-time process and clinical outcome measures that are built into the BH CMs' workflows had a dramatic impact on clinical outcomes, reducing the time to depression remission for half of the overall patient population by as much as 50% (Unützer et al. 2012).

c. Ongoing workforce development, training, and support are critical for program success.

For such a large program, it was a challenge to find and train a clinical workforce of over 100 BH CMs and approximately 20 part-time psychiatric consultants. Once the initial roll-out process was complete, the challenge of program sustainability became apparent. Use of recorded web-based training helped, but training needs remains an ongoing challenge. Furthermore, as the program expands, it continues to draw clinicians from an already strained mental health clinician resource pool. Training efforts for current and new clinicians are ongoing, but more needs to be done to consider the "pipeline" for new clinicians (BH CMs and consulting psychiatrists) who are considering a career in Collaborative Care. A discussion of workforce training is offered in the Future Directions section.

B. Depression Initiative Across Minnesota, Offering a New Direction (DIAMOND)

1. Background and History

The Depression Initiative Across Minnesota, Offering a New Direction (DIAMOND) project was initially conceived in 2006 at the Institute for Clinical Systems Improvement (ICSI), a non-profit quality improvement organization representing more than 60 hospitals, medical groups, and health plans primarily in Minnesota. As a neutral convening group, ICSI was able to pull together a steering committee that involved not only care providers, but also insurance representatives, patients, employers, and regulatory groups for the state to look for common ground on the gulf between what was available in the literature regarding the treatment of depression and what was happening in the state.

At the time, a meta-analysis (S Gilbody, Bower, and Fletcher 2006) of 37 randomized controlled trials supported care coordination for depression as being superior to practice as usual. The Institute for Clinical Systems Improvement contacted Jürgen Unützer, M.D., one of the architects of the IMPACT model for the management of depression as an expert consultant and then reached out to member organizations in the state to seek interest and capacity for changes in their delivery system. The participation of insurance groups in the design of DIAMOND allowed the opportunity to link practice change with payment redesign, and practices across the state were offered the chance to have expert help in system redesign along with the promise of a new source of reimbursement for care coordination of depression in adult patients.

Interested medical groups were screened for readiness for change, and those deemed capable were assigned a place in a staggered implementation plan of five "waves" in which a group of primary care clinics worked on learning and implementing over 6 months. Those participants in earlier segments were then part of the training group for the next wave, with over 80 primary care clinics receiving training by the end of implementation. Each participating clinic was required to submit data on response (50% improvement) and remission (subthreshold clinical score) based on the PHQ-9 through an online registry, and ICSI returned data to each clinic to show them how they were doing compared to other sites transparently, allowing clinics to contact each other to find out what was working best or to overcome common barriers. As a quality improvement project, there was no overall grant funding for DIAMOND; however, the HealthPartners Research Foundation received funding to follow and study the implementation using a stepped wedge study design with repeated cross-sections of patients across clinic settings (Crain et al. 2013).

2. Program Description

Eligible patients were 18 years or older. They had to be in a PCP's panel, with a PHQ-9 of 10 or more, and they could not have an entry diagnosis of bipolar disorder. These patients were identified by the involved clinics through electronic means or upon the patient's arrival into the

clinic to see their PCP. Once identified, the PCP was asked to decide if the patient was likely to have major depression or dysthymia, with PCPs having received prior training on diagnosis. Each clinic found it had to be proactive to ensure the easy availability of the primary measure (PHQ-9) in both case identification and monitoring of outcomes.

The way in which patients entered the care coordination program evolved over time as word of the availability of this option spread and early success was noted. Initially, the majority of patients came directly from the PCP to the CM via a "warm handoff", found to be far more successful than contacting patients by phone for screening. Over time, as popularity grew, entry into DIAMOND became independent of a specific PCP needing to authorize the referral, allowing any PCP to refer another provider's patients when cross-covering. In addition, patients would contact the clinic asking for the program after hearing about it from a family member or neighbor, and referrals became more common from psychiatric clinics, hospitals, and emergency departments. Those referrals from outside the primary care clinic required to be reviewed to make sure each patient indeed had a PCP, as this was an integral part of the model.

3. Adaptation of Collaborative Care Essential Elements

(a) Team-Driven Care

The team involved in this model included the patient, his/her PCP, a CM, and a consulting psychiatrist. Clinics were required to identify and block off time in the schedule of a care coordinator who was trained in the DIAMOND model by ICSI and charged with management of their whole population of depressed patients. The depression CM role was often a new one to primary care clinics at the time, and efforts were made to defend that role as unique to avoid a CM being pulled into multiple other tasks. The CM was most often a registered nurse (RN), but licensed practical nurses and social workers also were employed and could also be effective CMs. Behavioral activation and motivational interviewing were identified as important skills in this role, and a caseload of up to 100 patients per full-time CM was possible although it was common to see caseloads of 50-80 patients.

The DIAMOND program required psychiatrists to work in their capacity within the Collaborative Care Model – a role unfamiliar to many. Data on each patient, presented during the caseload review, was collected by the CM to enrich the process and increase the chances of the psychiatrist making meaningful recommendations without directly seeing patients. In addition, any patient not improving would be reviewed, and with the aid of the registry, the psychiatrist could focus on those patients most in need of attention versus just those who the CM remembered at the meeting. Availability outside this care review meeting was also important for an occasional call by the CM or by the PCP. The PCP wrote all prescriptions.

(b) Population-Focused Care

The program utilized a registry to manage the population of patients enrolled. Registry functionality was employed to attend to an entire list of patients in weekly systematic case

reviews where a psychiatrist could sort all the data on patients by severity of symptoms or length of stay and thus make sure patients with the most needs were not forgotten and patients not improving were not approached repeatedly in the same way. It also included the ability to generate reports on the population of affected patients to review with various audiences – for example, reviewing with a PCP of his/her patients, or generating reports on patients' progress for the director of a clinic or for those responsible for a group of clinics.

The Institute for Clinical Systems Improvement offered any participating group access to a registry specifically tailored for DIAMOND that was housed at the University of Washington. Some clinics used that registry, while others were given specifications based on that registry to develop their own registry. Included in those specifications was a list of consistent measures that needed to be sent to ICSI on a regular basis for quality comparisons. The registry offered a place to enter clinical data if it was not already a part of the EMR. In addition, CMs could track which patients needed a follow-up call, where to reach a patient on a given day, and how many times they might have reached out to a given patient and left a message. Finally, the registry offered real time access to administrative data to compare how CMs were doing at several clinics and to track useful data such as admission by PCP or by response rates by clinic.

Institute for Clinical Systems Improvement designers felt that relapse prevention was critical to the success of DIAMOND. A number of important activities related to relapse prevention were integrated into the DIAMOND model: meeting with a patient after he or she has gone into remission, reminding the patient that depression is a recurring illness, reviewing the earliest signs of an impending depressive episode, reviewing behavioral activation activities, providing education on the importance of adherence to medications, documenting which therapy approaches were most helpful for that individual, and creating an action plan for relapse. The expectation within DIAMOND was that patients would be enrolled until reaching remission (defined as two PHQ-9 results under 5 separated by at least 6 weeks). At that point, they were discharged. If the patient was not in remission by 12 months of participation, the expectation was that they would be discharged unless there was an obvious reason why more time in care management might be productive (e.g., a patient who just left an abusive partner towards the end of the year). The overall goal of the DIAMOND program was to get as many patients into remission as possible.

(c) Measurement-Guided Care

A screening and monitoring instrument allows case finding and treat-to-target planning and discussions to occur. Significant work was then required by each clinic to elaborate a method to distribute, collect, and record the PHQ-9 in a way that allowed for both patient care and outcome monitoring for the clinic. The PHQ-9 was chosen as the common tool, and the success of DIAMOND led to the larger adoption of this tool by Minnesota Community Measurement – a nonprofit organization charged with monitoring health outcomes for primary care across the state. Depression was the first mental health condition included in mandatory outcomes for primary care (and outpatient psychiatric specialty care) clinics for transparent comparison of outcomes on the Internet (<u>http://www.mnhealthscores.org/</u>). In addition to the PHQ-9, each new patient entering DIAMOND was screened for anxiety (often using the GAD-7 [Spitzer et al. 2006]), alcohol misuse (often using the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test [Frank et al. 2008; Gual et al. 2002]), and for bipolar history (often using the Mood Disorders Questionnaire [Hirschfeld 2000]). While the PHQ-9 was required to do the model, the tools for these other comorbidities were offered as recommendations, allowing a clinic to pick a similar tool if preferred. Clinics could also add extra screening tools and questions for the CM to ask before each intake to enhance the psychiatrist's ability to make a meaningful initial suggestion to the PCP of a new patient.

(d) Evidence-Based Care

The model being implemented in DIAMOND was based on IMPACT and was chosen because of the amount of evidence in published literature supporting both efficacy and effectiveness. In addition, by having a psychiatrist review panels of patients and provide feedback on approaches to groups of PCPs, there was an opportunity to encourage the use of evidence-based approaches to depression. Each note to a PCP was a potential teaching opportunity. A guideline built for primary care from ICSI for depression was a reference source as it was adapted for this setting and updated each year. Care managers were each provided with access to this guideline and were encouraged to use it as a reference point in answering questions from patients or providers when appropriate.

4. Quality Improvement and Accountability

The implementation strategy for DIAMOND was that used in the Breakthrough series model of practice change (Institute for Healthcare Improvement, 2013). As described in the background above, practices were screened for readiness to implement this model. Those ready tended to have the capacity to implement both the PHQ-9 and use of a consulting psychiatrist, as well as the resources to hire a CM/care coordinator. They also needed buy-in from both those in the clinic and from leadership. Finally, they needed a champion at the intervention site and information technology support.

Practices selected for the study sent a team to be trained by ICSI. The team included the CM/coordinator, a primary care champion, a psychiatry consulting provider, and desk and nursing staff from the participating clinic. Information technology support also was encouraged to attend these meetings as needed. Plan-Do-Study-Act cycles were used to adapt aspects of the model to a given setting, and outcomes were tracked at each site and compared in a transparent way with all participating clinics, both within and outside a given medical group. A healthy competition ensued and was encouraged.

After introducing this model to many clinics, those trained in an earlier wave of training were recruited to teach their colleagues in a later wave. Nuances about how to implement aspects of the model often were uncovered through the use of those actually doing the work as trainers. The Institute for Clinical Systems Improvement provided feedback to all the clinics and

to leadership at all the sites on progress in recruitment, panel sizes, response rates, and remission rates.

5. Funding

The steering committee for DIAMOND included both providers of care and insurance representatives as members. It was clear from the start that both groups felt there was significant room to improve processes and outcomes in the state for adult patients with depression. Healthcare providers were willing to make significant changes but felt that they needed reassurance that this new model brought with it a new source of financing for non-direct care activities. Six large insurance groups within the state agreed to work with their organizations to create a new payment model to help sustain the changes.

In order to clarify a target amount for payment, ICSI was able to survey participating DIAMOND sites about the time involved in creating DIAMOND (e.g., committee meetings, the CM's schedule, time blocked in the psychiatrist's schedule) and time spent in caseload review and supervision. By pooling and de-identifying this data, a range of costs per month was available to participating medical groups in their negotiating with the insurance groups. The payers offered a monthly bundled reimbursement meant to cover both the work of the CM and the non-direct patient care activities of the consulting psychiatrist. Primary care providers involved in the care of these patients continued to bill as they had previously. Anti-trust laws prevented direct conversations about how much a given medical group was planning to bill, and this was left as a negotiation. All insurance groups involved agreed upon a single billing code initiated by ICSI-participating clinics representing a standard set of bundled services. Insurance groups agreed that 1 year was reasonable as a period of payment for an enrollee. After that, a practice needed to appeal to continue billing for DIAMOND services for a given patient.

6. Lessons Learned

(a) Care coordination for depression can be successfully implemented in a wide variety of settings for improving depression outcomes; cost reduction may or may not follow.

The DIAMOND sites consistently outperformed other primary care sites on 6- and 12month response and remission rates as measured by the PHQ-9 and reported on Minnesota Healthscores during the implementation process. Pre-post comparisons done at given sites (Williams et al. 2011) also showed significant improvement in clinical outcomes. Neither of these comparisons was as rigorous as one would find in a randomized trial however, and during implementation it was clear that there was wide variability in outcomes by site, even within a medical group. It was also common to see a given clinic reach a certain level of outcome and remain there.

Finally, DIAMOND was not designed to reduce utilization in emergency departments and hospitals. Improving depression, it was argued, should naturally lead to reduced utilization of acute services, and most certainly it did in some patients; however, limited data exists from

DIAMOND about cost reductions. Cost reduction (i.e., changes in utilization) in few patients is difficult to generalize when some depressed patients are not using many services at all. In addition, those patients using the emergency department or hospital may need a different type of intervention involving social services or home visits if that is the primary outcome needed to support continuation of care coordination.

(b) Implementation science approaches are critical to successfully starting, improving upon, and sustaining care coordination models.

Care coordination models are disruptive in that they require changes in all aspects of a primary care clinic—the checking in and rooming of patients, management of phone calls and triage, changes in nursing roles, building the way in which a specialist (psychiatrist) integrates into the primary care workflow, and evolving the approach by the PCP to patients with depression. Simply providing such a model to a clinic without helping that clinic through the changes is like providing a chronic smoker with a pamphlet on the dangers of smoking and expecting that to be enough. Successful implementation has been studied, and organizations making such changes can benefit from attention to implementation science (Whitebird et al. 2014).

The implementation teams had data comparing outcomes between sites within and outside of their own medical groups. This comparison data was very helpful in creating some healthy competition to recruit more patients and to be better at capturing follow-up data. However, reasons for variation remained elusive. Practice sites had varying success at making collection and submission of their outcome data a priority within their institution to allow for analysis of site differences, and once a program was implemented and early results were in, it was easy to focus on the next site for implementation. In starting an implementation of Collaborative Care, the team should expect and plan for variation in outcomes. In a large health care system, a central team that is able to do small tests of changes that could impact outcomes at a few sites may help all the teams in knowing where to focus their efforts.

(c) Aligning incentives: pay attention to start-up costs and payer mix.

The bundled payment offered to clinics implementing DIAMOND was very helpful in both getting medical groups to participate (psychiatric time was covered as was the cost of the care coordinators salary) and in sustaining the model once it started. In addition, having a financial part of the model led to more structure in the length of treatment and definitions around discharge, as these were tied to payment. There was significant cost to each organization to start-up DIAMOND (i.e., the cost of hiring a care coordinator, creating an electronic registry, including the PHQ-9 in the workflow, and meetings with involved clinics to explore and plan). The organizational cost of implementing a change was never covered by the new reimbursement for DIAMOND. This cost is not a minor issue in a time when primary care practices were struggling to break even financially. In addition, the variety of sources of payment for services delivered to patients coming into primary care made it less likely that clinics could continue a model reimbursing for only a part of their eligible population. The bundled payment system worked fairly well in clinics where the majority of patients were covered by one or a few plans, but in DIAMOND clinics with a large percentage of government payers, the program had trouble being sustained.

(d) Care managers need support and ongoing training.

A clear preference for RNs in the role of CM was present from the start. However, sites using individuals from other backgrounds such as licensed practical nurses and social workers had comparable outcomes. Sites using non-nurse CMs were able to save on costs but had to find ways to back up these CMs with nursing support. It was widely noted by those involved in the project that the personal qualities and the institutional support of the CM may have made more of a difference in outcomes than professional degrees. Sites with dedicated CMs did better than sites in which a CM was asked to take on several roles. Training of CMs is important, but it is also clear that the role involves ongoing skill development in motivational interviewing. Weekly visits with psychiatrists have educational value as well.

(e) Psychiatrists need to learn new skills to do this model effectively.

Psychiatrists were not all comfortable with this new role; structured training and peer support/mentoring were helpful. Psychiatrists need to be comfortable trusting their colleagues in primary care. Fears about lawsuits were addressed, and this model was compared to any curbside support given in electronic consults where the primary responsibility remained with the PCP. Primary care practices often had trouble finding psychiatric support, especially in rural areas, and access to psychiatric services was noted to be an overall stressor for primary care. A general rule-of-thumb suggestion born of experience with the model over time was to contract with a psychiatrist for 2 hours per week per full-time CM for caseload supervision. When a primary care site had two CMs, this was more efficient for the psychiatrist who might then be able to block off a half-day and reduce travel time. Psychiatrists with some responsibility for the overall outcomes and processes in the primary care clinics where they were consulting tended to enjoy the role and contributed more to improved outcomes than when simply contracting for the time.

C. Re-Engineering Systems of Primary Care Treatment of PTSD and Depression in the Military (RESPECT-MIL)

1. Background and History

The RESPECT-Mil program (Re-Engineering Systems of Primary Care Treatment of PTSD and Depression in the Military) is an Army-wide, Collaborative Care initiative aimed at improving the primary care system's capacity to identify and effectively treat service members with depression and posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) within the military health system (MHS) (Wong et al. 2015). The MHS, with an annual budget over \$55 billion, is responsible for the provision of health care to roughly 10 million beneficiaries who receive care in over 300 military treatment facilities worldwide, making it among the largest and most diverse health systems in existence (CBO: Congressional Budget Office 2014).

The initiation of RESPECT-Mil in January 2007 was in response to a clearly demonstrated MHS need: during many years of armed conflict in Iraq and Afghanistan deploying some 2.6 million men and women in uniform, data emerged regarding high rates of PTSD, depression, and other mental health conditions as well as low rates of specialty mental health service use among those affected (Hoge et al. 2004; Tanielian et al. 2008). Indeed, of the nearly 20% of service members returning from deployment with PTSD or depression, fewer than one-fourth received mental health care from a specialist, in part due to stigma and the potential for occupational repercussions when these problems come to light (Hoge et al. 2004; Tanielian and Jaycox 2008).

Collaborative Care is an evidence-based approach to these challenges. The RESPECT-Mil program adapted a Collaborative Care Model previously tested for depression by adding PTSD (Dietrich et al. 2004; Oxman et al. 2002). With the assistance of an original team of MacArthur Foundation funded investigators, a 2005-2006 demonstration project with feasibility assessment was completed at a busy primary care clinic serving the medical needs of the 82nd Airborne Division. The study found high PCP satisfaction with and acceptance of the RESPECT-Mil approach, and two-thirds to three-fourths of service members reported clinically significant improvements in their psychiatric status (C. C. Engel et al. 2008). The success of this demonstration led to large-scale implementation at the direction of the US Army Surgeon General (Surgeon General 2013).

The RESPECT-Mil program has served as the precursor to the currently existing Collaborative Care Patient-Centered Medical Home (PCMH) model now implemented for all beneficiaries across Army, Navy, and Air Force primary care clinics. Before transitioning to the second-generation MHS PCMH approach, RESPECT-Mil was implemented for over 3.5 million visits in 94 primary care clinics located at 39 installations and eight time zones worldwide. In addition, RESPECT-Mil led to the first large multisite randomized controlled trial of a health care delivery intervention in the MHS, the STEPS-UP Trial (STepped Enhancement of PTSD Services Using Primary Care), a trial evaluating Collaborative Care implementation approaches for PTSD and depression (C. C. Engel et al. 2014; C. Engel et al. 2015). This trial is nearing completion at this time.

2. Program Description

All service member visits to participating primary care clinics are routinely screened for PTSD using the four-item Primary Care PTSD screen (Prins et al. 2004) and for depression using a yes/no two-item PHQ-2 (Kurt Kroenke, Spitzer, and Williams 2003). Patients screening positive (PC-PTSD ≥2 or PHQ-2 ≥ 1) are given the PTSD Checklist (PCL(Blanchard et al. 1996), PHQ-9, and single item PHQ question assessing symptom-related functional status difficulties (K Kroenke, Spitzer, and Williams 2001). Primary care clinicians were trained in these measures, given guidance on how to use them, and afforded ultimate discretion as to what constitutes a positive diagnosis. All usual patient referral options were available (e.g., watchful waiting, routine primary care treatment and follow-up, emergency department referral, specialty care referrals, inpatient hospitalization). Clinicians had the additional option of enlisting the help of a RESPECT-Mil "care facilitator", an RN who kept patients fully engaged in care, tracked treatment adherence, assessed symptom status at a minimum of every 2 weeks and every 4 weeks thereafter, and entered relevant data into a decision support system for tracking of symptom improvement.

3. Essential Elements of Collaborative Care

(a) Team-Driven Care

The MHS used an approach to team care that involves primary care clinic office support staff, primary care nurses, the primary care clinician, a nurse trained in care management of depression and PTSD, and a consulting psychiatrist. Clinic support staff was trained to initiate a waiting room screen for depression and PTSD. Clinic nurses reviewed the initial screening with the patient at the time of assessing vital signs (actual clinic flow was adapted with different clinics in consultation with a health system implementation team). If the initial screen was positive, patients were asked to complete a validated hard copy "diagnostic aid," and the clinician reviewed the result briefly with the patient. The clinician asked any necessary followup questions. Based on patient responses, referral to specialty care or to the clinic-based collaborative CM was made. If the referral was to the CM, he or she followed up with the patient, usually by phone but sometimes in person, at regular intervals to assess patient symptom severity using the same measures used at the index primary care visit. In addition, assessments of treatment side effects and adherence were assessed and captured in a health information technology platform that created registries. The consulting psychiatrist met with nurse CMs weekly to review patients' status, discuss treatment plans, and recommend any treatment plan changes to the primary care clinician as appropriate using the electronic health record.

(b) Population-Focused Care

A web-based PTSD and depression decision support tool was used to generate real-time symptom registries at the care facilitator level for measurement-based treatment planning. Care facilitators assessed patient symptoms at regular intervals (within 2 weeks after the index visit and at least every 4 weeks thereafter). Registries were used to identify patients whose symptoms were not improving so that their treatment plan could be intensified or otherwise modified. The registry also identified patients by level of treatment engagement; efforts were made to ensure that patients at risk of falling out of treatment or who had already fallen out of treatment were identified and efforts were made to better engage or reengage them. Efforts to adjust treatment plans and improve engagement were reviewed by the psychiatrist with the care facilitators using the real-time electronic registry.

(c) Measurement-Guided Care

The RN care facilitators tracked symptoms in the patients they were monitoring, assessing them using validated symptom and functional status assessment tools and entering results into the online decision support tool. Resulting registries were generated and used to inform weekly reviews of care facilitator caseloads by the installation's RESPECT-Mil psychiatrist.

Improvement of 5 points on either the PCL or PHQ-9 was considered minimally significant clinical improvement. Less than a 5-point improvement more than 8 weeks after the most recent treatment change prompted an automated flag and triggered reassessment of that patient's treatment regimen. Changes in regimen included the addition of a new medication or discontinuation of existing therapies, changes in medication dosing, addition of psychotherapy or changes in psychotherapy frequency, modality, or provider.

(d) Evidence-based Care

All RESPECT-Mil program practices were codified in manuals (http://www.pdhealth.mil/respect-mil.asp). Screens and ongoing patient status indicators were published standardized measures (e.g., PHQ-2/9, PC-PTSD, PCL). Manuals for PCPs, behavioral health specialists, and care facilitators provided guidance with regard to stepped psychopharmacologic treatment. In the second generation RESPECT-Mil approach, assessed in the STEPS-UP Trial, stepped psychosocial interventions were added. These included care facilitator engagement strategies, nurse-assisted online Cognitive Behavioral Therapy (CBT) selfmanagement, telephone CBT with a clinical psychologist, primary care clinic-based therapy with a social worker or psychologist, and specialty clinic-based psychotherapy services (see Engel et al. 2014 for more detailed summary of the evidence-base for these modalities).

4. Quality Improvement

The RESPECT-Mil program quality improvement efforts were driven and sustained based on a carefully crafted worldwide structure and accountability (Belsher et al. 2014). Each implementing installation (i.e., a single Army Post, on average covering about three primary care clinics each, up to 7-8 clinics) assigned both a primary care and behavioral health champion. The latter was a psychiatrist that provided weekly caseload supervision for all care facilitators. The former was a PCP responsible for monitoring and overseeing that installation's RESPECT-Mil quality metrics.

Overall RESPECT-Mil quality improvement assessment, reporting, and metrics were driven by the "R-MIT" (RESPECT-Mil Implementation Team). The R-MIT was a multidisciplinary group (psychiatrist, psychologist, social worker, nurse, statistician, database manager/programmer, health informatics specialist, administrative support, and expert part-time consultants) located in Silver Spring, MD. All R-MIT staff (a) completed 2-day trainings for new champions; (b) performed at least monthly 30-minute telephone consultations with each RESPECT-Mil installation team (champions, care facilitators, and administrative assistants) to strategize around implementation challenges; (c) executed one site visit per year for each implementing installation with in- and out-briefs for facility commanders and delivery of a written installation visit report; and (d) distributed RESPECT-Mil semi-annual installation report cards summarizing key clinical metrics and comparing them to grand mean program performance and providing site performance rankings. Data for these reports were gleaned from installation data reports, aggregate electronic health record reports, and outcomes data from the online clinical decision support tool used by care facilitators and their psychiatrist supervisors.

5. Funding

Program personnel (one General Schedule (GS)-10 equivalent RN care facilitator and one GS-5 administrative assistant equivalent per 10,000 military personnel in participating clinic catchment area; 5,000 minimum for funding of one of each) were funded through Army Medical Command Behavioral Health funding under Medical Command Operations Order. With the transition to the PCMH, program resourcing was driven in part by a Department of Defense instruction and budgeting guidance and each military service's derivative policies.

6. Lessons Learned

The lessons learned implementing RESPECT-Mil have been broad and myriad. Only a few are summarized briefly here.

(a) Collaborative Care is feasible to successfully implement and maintain quality control of in a worldwide context.

The RESPECT-Mil program was a major operation by any standard.

(b) Central assistance aids high fidelity implementation.

There were many examples in which installations, clinics, and individual care facilitators identified, corrected, and conquered complex local challenges with the assistance of the R-MIT. By training, talking with, visiting, and inspecting data from implementing installations, the R-MIT became the historical repository for lessons addressing specific challenges that arose again

and again. Central assistance is also important for supplementing the scarce mental health resources in many rural settings through the use of web-based self-management, phone-based CBT, and remote care facilitation services.

(c) The use of an electronic decision support system facilitated timely changes in the treatment plans of patients for whom treatment is likely to have otherwise remained unchanged and ineffective.

The process and outcomes data from this system, populated with data collected by care facilitators during phone follow-up contacts, also was readily used in aggregate to monitor installation, clinic, and care facilitator performance.

(d) Routine actionable performance reports with high installation/organizational visibility resulted in observable responses, particularly from under-performing installation programs.

In most cases, installation efforts to avoid poor performance (more than efforts to be viewed as a high performing installation) drove program performance in the direction of greater overall fidelity with time. This fostered and sustained a culture of performance improvement.

(e) Installation site visits were essential for ensuring that high-level policies achieved intended objectives and for identifying unintended effects early and correcting them.

They also ensured that RESPECT-Mil implementers considered the first hand views of the entire health care team (e.g., unit clerks, medics, nurses, administrators, records personnel, primary care physicians and mid-level providers, mental health specialists from all disciplines). These views were always informative.

(f) The use of the macro-level central assistance program organizational model not only facilitated program implementation and quality improvement efforts; it led to the recent successful completion of a large multisite randomized effectiveness trial of a secondgeneration Collaborative Care method (C. Engel et al. 2015).

D. Veterans Health Administration

1. Background and History

As the American health care system moves toward integrated and Collaborative Care, PCMH, outcome-based models of healthcare funding, and accountable care organizations, the experience of the nation's most extensive Collaborative Care implementation, the Veterans Health Administration's (VHA) Patient Aligned Care Team (PACT) model is relevant and important. The VHA is in the process of implementing Primary Care-Mental Health Integration (PC-MHI) in over 7,000 primary care clinics (Reid and Wagner 2014).

The VHA cares for over 5.3 million primary care patients; more than half of that care is provided in Community-Based Outpatient Clinics (CBOCs) (Schectman and Stark 2014). There is a single patient electronic record system used organization-wide. Twenty percent of VHA patients receive mental health services (Post and Van Stone 2008). In 2010, the VHA began to augment primary care teams to ensure at least four full-time health care professionals per panel of primary care patients, including mental health professionals, nutritionists, and clinical pharmacy specialists. Organization-wide metrics provide accountability and visibility for opportunities to standardize and improve access and care.

Primary care-mental health integration in the VHA blends two models of integrated care: 1) the Collaborative Care Model (referred to as care management) and 2) the Behavioral Health Consultant Model (referred to as co-located care) (Dundon and Dollar 2011). All VA Medical Centers and CBOCs with more than 5,000 patients are required to implement both models. The requirement for a blended model is based on the evidence base of the Collaborative Care, and the need for co-located mental health specialists to provide immediate access for patients. Collaborative Care is designed to support PCPs prescribing of psychotropic medications and includes proactive longitudinal follow-up and brief behavioral health interventions. Collaborative Care services are usually provided over the telephone, often by staff who are not independently licensed but who are supervised by a psychiatrist or psychiatric advanced practice nurse. Co-located behavioral health consultants conduct curbside consultations with PCPs and participate in interdisciplinary team huddles.

2. Program Description

Most patients in the VHA with depression are treated in primary care; therefore, collaboration between primary care and mental health care providers is essential for optimizing treatment (VHA: Veterans Health Administration 2008). Most patients are introduced to the behavioral health consultant via a "warm handoff" from the PCP to the PC-MHI provider operating an open access clinic (i.e., no appointment necessary). In some programs, referrals are made using the VHA's computerized patient record system (CPRS) electronic consultation function (VHA: Veterans Health Administration 2008). The decision to make an electronic referral or warm handoff is based on the clinical experience and level of concern of the referring PCP. No specific referral criteria have been operationalized. Licensed independent

mental health providers conduct focused assessments and deliver brief interventions, usually face-to-face in the primary care clinic. Some PC-MHI encounters are scheduled solely for the purpose of delivering mental health treatment while others are conducted as part of the primary care encounter.

3. Adaptation of Collaborative Care Essential Elements

(a) Team-Driven Care

The Department of Veterans Affairs has a detailed staffing formula that prescribes full time equivalent assignments of behavioral health providers (BHPs) to primary care clinics, based on enrollment population. Case identification, triage, evaluation/consultation, follow-up, case management, psycho-education, medication management, and coordination of patients needing longer-term or more intensive mental health specialty services are targeted to all primary care panels across the national VHA health system.

Veterans Health Administration PC-MHI program staffing varies among facilities, and facilities vary in size, but a 2010 PC-MHI evaluation survey (Wray et al. 2012) and a VHA operations manual (Dundon and Dollar 2011) reported the following system-wide average full-time equivalent employees by provider type per facility, revealing of relative provider mix for a clinic accommodating approximately 3,000 to 4,000 veterans:

Table 3: Characteristics of Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) Staff per Clinic in VHA Integrated Care Implementations

Staff Title	FTE
Psychiatrists	0.54
PhD level psychologists	1.11
Mental health nurses	0.69
Masters of social work	0.62
Prescribing mid-level providers	0.40
Mental health administrative support	0.31
Mental health technicians	0.23
Doctoral level pharmacists	0.11
Masters level counselors/therapists	0.04
Primary care physician	3.00

(b) Population-Focused Care

Implementation of the PACT model is monitored through standard metrics that are shared nationwide. Data can be viewed for the entire health system, for regions, for facilities, for panels, and for individual providers. Standard metrics are related to panel management, patient engagement, patient satisfaction, access, continuity, staff satisfaction, care coordination, and clinical improvement (Schectman and Stark 2014). Clinics vary in their commitment to dedicated time for teams to participate in team population health activities through registry review and team discussion. Partial determinants of degree of implementation of the PACT/Collaborative Care Model in the VHA include physical presence of mental health professionals in the primary care clinic, availability of space in the primary care clinic, and availability of financial resources (Chang et al. 2013).

The information technology support needs for the optimal practice of population health are substantial (VHA: Veterans Health Administration 2008). The information technology system should ideally facilitate the ability to track a panel of patients, identify next steps in clinical care, provide decision support at point-of-care for medication dosing and other clinical treatment decisions, enable patients to enter patient-reported symptoms, provide secure messaging for team members, and provide outcome feedback to care providers and teams.

The VA utilizes a current software platform to accomplish many of these needs. The Behavioral Health Lab (BHL) software package is an informatics tool to facilitate the delivery of measurement-based behavioral health care. The software provides a mechanism for collecting patient reported outcome data, tracking patients over time, monitoring patients' symptoms, and generating patient and program level outcome data. The program level data include predefined reports, but data is also easily exportable for use locally. The software program has the capacity to provide decision support for initial or baseline interviews. The software creates patient focused reports for any visit that tracks treatment progress and progress notes for clinical records. The BHL interfaces with the VHA's electronic health record and could be used with other health systems. The interface capacity enhances the user experience by populating BHL with patient demographic information and pushing patient reports from BHL into the existing VHA EMR system. Additionally, BHL-structured assessment data are pushed to the Mental Health Assistant software which populates the data in the National Data Warehouse.

(c) Measurement-Guided Care

Because the VHA is a large system of care, the preponderance of research has focused on implementation success of PC-MHI and access-relevant metrics such as wait-time for behavioral health services (Hankin et al. 1999). There is a relative paucity of data at this time related to outcomes attributable to measurement-based treatment to target and clinical outcomes.

The most robust outcome data to date within VHA come from a depression treatment initiative, Translating Initiatives for Depression into Effective Solutions (TIDES) Project (VHA: Veterans Health Administration 2008). The TIDES project has been implemented in several VHA regions and aims to improve care for depressed veterans by implementing depression Collaborative Care Models through evidence-based care guidelines. Support for treating to 50% response and full remission was provided in implementation expectations for the sites participating in the model. Initial data from the TIDES program from 1,000 patients enrolled in the program revealed that the model resulted in very high levels of medication adherence (85%) and follow-up visits (95%). Remission rates at 6 months were 62% among primary care patients and 40% among the more severely ill veterans referred to mental health specialty treatment (Rubenstein et al. 2010).

(d) Evidence-Based Care

The VHA maintains an extensive set of evidence-based practice guidelines, regularly updated by expert panels, in collaboration with the Department of Defense. Adherence to practice guidelines is part of VHA providers' quality and performance improvement program, both as individuals and as groups. In many facilities performance pay (bonuses) are partly determined by review of adherence to aspects of evidence-based practice guidelines. The guidelines are readily available in the CPRS system. Critical reminders from evidence-based guidelines are incorporated into "push" clinical reminders upon opening of patient records. For example, if metabolic monitoring for antipsychotic medication is due, a "reminder due" message is evident on the front page of the EMR.

Psychotherapists in the VHA PC-MHI program receive training in brief evidence-based psychotherapies, including Problem Solving Therapy, and adaptations of CBT-based therapies. Designated evidence-based therapy coordinators ensure fidelity to the manualized conduct of psychotherapy via periodic review of case records.

4. Accountability and Quality Improvement

National VHA evaluation and local program data have demonstrated that PC-MHI has increased the likelihood of receiving care defined by evidence-based practice guidelines, and enhanced treatment engagement for patients referred on to VHA specialty mental health services (Pomerantz et al. 2014). The increase in access to care resulting from the widespread implementation of PC-MHI has led to significant and substantial increases in the rates of detection, diagnosis, and treatment of depression, anxiety, PTSD, and substance use disorders (VHA: Veterans Health Administration 2008; Zivin et al. 2010). The VHA has nationally standardized staff training and patient educational materials, created centrally using evidence-based methods and materials curated by content experts. With almost 5 million PC-MHI encounters to date, VHA's experience is that Collaborative Care can be successfully implemented at scale.

The VHA Primary Care Research in Substance Abuse and Mental Health for Elderly (PRISM-E) randomized controlled trial demonstrated that VHA patients were significantly more likely to engage in mental health services that were integrated with primary care than to follow through on traditional referrals to specialty services. For example, depressed patients in integrated care had 2.86 higher odds of having at least one contact with a mental health specialist than those in referral care (Bartels et al. 2004).

5. Funding

Veterans Health Administration funding mechanisms facilitated relatively easy realignment of resources and population-wide implementation of PC-MHI. Workload tracking is

based largely on patient resource utilization and BHP workload documentation. Behavioral health provider workload is captured using Current Procedural Terminology codes for PC-MHI-relevant encounter types (Dundon and Dollar 2011):

- a) Initial consult visit
- b) Follow-up visit
- c) Treatment adherence enhancement visit
- d) Relapse prevention visit
- e) Behavioral medicine visit
- f) Psycho-educational group visit
- g) Conjoint (BHP and PCP joint visit) consultation
- h) Telephone consultation
- i) Unscheduled staff- or patient-initiated contact for immediate problem-focused intervention

Several clinical services are not provided or staffed for in PC-MHI, including:

- a) Outpatient psychotherapy requiring more than six visits
- b) Intensive outpatient services
- c) Psychological or neuropsychological testing
- d) Patients already in treatment with a specialty mental health provider, service, or program

6. Lessons Learned

(a) Depression is not the only condition.

Nationally, the most frequent PC-MHI diagnoses are, in order of frequency, major depressive disorder, other depression, PTSD, anxiety disorder, alcohol use disorder, substance use disorder, bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, and personality disorders (Wray et al. 2012). While over 95% of PC-MHI programs addressed depression and anxiety disorders in 2012, 83% addressed PTSD, 55% alcohol dependence, 53% bipolar disorder, and 46% schizophrenia (Wray et al. 2012).

(b) Transformation to population health is evolutionary.

Clinical care teams can preserve clinician-patient relationships and therapeutic alliances when they are high-functioning teams emphasizing good communication and shared decisionmaking (Reid and Wagner 2014). In the evolution of PC-MHI toward true team care and population management, a challenging stage is when there is co-location but not totally integrative team care. Veterans Health Administration PACTs are in various stages of transformation; effective leadership and organizational commitment are necessary for evolution to true integrated team care and population health. The degree of evolution toward a pure Collaborative Care or population health model also has been shown to be dependent on the presence of psychiatrists or psychologists in the primary care clinic, greater financial sufficiency, and greater space availability (Chang et al. 2013). To date, there is insufficient data to conclude whether or not VHA efforts to promote self-management, robust care coordination, and healthy behavior change have resulted in population health improvements (Reid and Wagner 2014).

(c) System engagement is related to ease and degree of Collaborative Care implementation.

Reid and Wagner (Reid and Wagner 2014) identified eight large-scale changes that must be implemented and sustained to achieve PC-MHI in a population health program like the VHA:

- 1. Engaging leadership in meaningful change
- 2. Deploying evidence-based quality improvement and change strategies
- 3. Empaneling patients to establish care accountabilities
- 4. Shifting to team-based rather than clinician-directed care
- 5. Promoting patient-centered care interactions
- 6. Deploying strategies to enhance chronic, preventive, and acute care
- 7. Ensuring access of patients to their care teams
- 8. Establishing effective care coordination strategies

(d) Leadership provides a critical fuel for Collaborative Care implementation.

The differences between PC-MHI programs and traditional mental health in the VHA are dramatic and require a culture shift for all stakeholders, from PCPs to BHPs, and leadership at all levels. Research from the VHA has shown that if leaders do not allocate resources, support providers, identify clinical change champions, or define job duties, implementation of Collaborative Care, or even co-located care, is likely to be hindered (Guerrero et al. 2015; Chang et al. 2013). National VHA leadership has implemented organization-wide training and emphasis on new skills that must be learned to effectively implement PC-MHI, including cultural competency, motivational interviewing, communication skills such as active listening, and use of telehealth and home-based telehealth technology.

E. University of California Davis Health System

1. Background and History

The University of California-Davis Health System (UCDHS)'s Depression Care Management pilot projects (2011 and 2012), through a pay-for-performance initiative, led to the development of the Care Coordination Program (CCP) in 2013 that utilizes the Collaborative Care Model for behavioral health and disease management. The goal of the CCP is to improve interdisciplinary collaboration within the UC Davis Primary Care Network (PCN), as many patients have limited access to in-person psychiatry consultations when PCPs request specialty mental health care. Primary care providers now refer patients to the CCP to target mental health outcomes through care management, PCP education initiatives, and electronic consultations with psychiatrists. The education initiatives within the CCP have contributed to the program's popularity and buy-in from PCPs and health system administration.

2. Program Description

The UCDHS CCP targets mental health outcomes within each PCN through care management, PCP education initiatives, and electronic consultation using referrals to CMs (licensed clinical social workers [LCSWs] and nurses). The most common referrals are for depression, diabetes, obesity and smoking cessation. There are an increasing number of referrals for patients with behavioral health resources to support patients with comorbid psychiatric and medical disorders. The PCP places these referrals through an order-set within the EMR, briefly detailing the consultation question(s), with the only exclusion criteria at this moment being child and adolescent patients. The CMs receive the referrals and then work closely with the patients, PCPs, and psychiatrists to improve medical and psychiatric outcomes.

3. Adaptation of Collaborative Care Essential Elements

(a) Team-Driven Care

The care coordination team consists of a psychiatrist, CMs (LCSW and nurse) and a clinical pharmacist. Upon receiving a referral, the CM contacts the patient by telephone to assess for specific needs. The assessments include inquiry into medication adherence, clinical outcomes data (e.g. PHQ-9 or GAD-7), side effects, risk assessment, and resources available. The Care Coordination team meets weekly to "round" on active patients. Each member of the team fully engaged to influence and guides the treatment approach. The psychiatrist leads the team in data review, diagnostic clarification, and opportunities to improve outcomes through treatment adjustment or resource referrals.

The assessments and recommendations from the team meetings are recorded into the EMR and, to ensure continuity of care between the Care Coordination team and the PCP, the psychiatrists often follow-up with a communication through the EMR to the PCP, particularly if there are recommendations for medication adjustment. These communications allow an

opportunity for teaching, which may include the rationale for a particular diagnosis and explanation of the treatment recommendations. In addition to weekly care coordination team meetings, PCPs frequently contact the psychiatrists for brief communications and "curbside" consultations. Case managers have access to psychiatrists' pagers and mobile numbers to ensure real-time assistance with urgent questions. These personal communications add to PCP satisfaction, making it easier to garner PCP and administrative support for the Collaborative Care Model. Psychiatry involvement within the CCP has been rated very highly by both PCPs and CMs.

(b) Population-Focused Care

Each CM has a caseload of approximately 100 patients, while weekly team meetings normally cover 10-14 patients over a 2-hour session. Case managers guide the weekly team meetings through presentation of patients in whom the CM identifies a question regarding mental health. Practically, this means new referrals from PCPs or follow-ups from discussions during a previous team meeting. As such, there is no registry component consistently utilized to guide care.

(c) Measurement-Guided Care

Both PHQ-9 and GAD-7 assessments are easily accessible within the EMR as a dropdown menu, and PCPs are strongly encouraged to assess for depression and anxiety using these brief assessment tools for each patient they refer for mental health care. The CM incorporates the PHQ-9 and GAD-7 into the patient presentation during the CCP meetings. Measurementbased care, including a "treat-to-target" philosophy, is frequently used in CCP team meetings.

(d) Evidence-Based Care

Initial telephone encounters from CMs include motivational interviewing, Brief Supportive Therapy, and elements of CBT, including behavioral activation. Manuals for care management to standardize some evidence-based practices are currently under development, and monthly in-services delivered by the psychiatric consultants with care management staff are provided on behavioral health topics such as depression and anxiety disorders in the medically ill, personality disorders, eating disorders, and others.

4. Accountability and Quality Improvement

Initial quality improvement analyses have demonstrated reductions in healthcare utilization for patients enrolled in CCP along with cost reductions as well (unpublished work, UCDHS Care Coordination Value Analysis, November 2014). As the CCP evolves and is refined, ongoing quality improvement will be crucial in determining the optimal patient population to target (choosing the "right" type of patients), metrics for evaluating treatment teams, and outcomes of physician education.

5. Funding

The University of California-Davis Health System has significantly invested in the Collaborative Care Model. Beginning in 2010, the successful UCDHS Depression Care Management project through two consecutive pay-for-performance pilot grants brought a psychiatrist into a select number of UC Davis PCN clinics for Lunch & Learn sessions. In 2013, the continuing positive feedback motivated the UCDHS to fund the CCP within all 17 of the PCNs. The services of this program were funded through the Department of Health Management and Education who support the salaries of the CM (initially four LCSWs and five nurses) in addition to 0.1 FTE of two psychiatrists supported by the UCD Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences. Additionally, a Psychosomatic Medicine Fellow maintained their own treatment team for the 2014-2015 academic year in periodic meetings with protected time.

Because of the acceptance and success of the CCP, UCDHS has recently been awarded separate grants to be conducted within the CCP framework. One award is to evaluate asynchronous and synchronous telepsychiatry (an Agency for Healthcare Research &Quality-funded RO1 study) consultations at two PCNs, and the other is to evaluate asynchronous telepsychiatry (internal Practice Management Board Innovations Grant) consultations for Medicare patients within two PCNs.

6. Lessons Learned

(a) Importance of care managers

The importance of CMs cannot be overstated, as they engage in a continuous process of refining their skills of bridging information between the PCP, patient, and psychiatrist. A good fit for the CM role is one who possesses skills in rapid diagnostic assessment, efficient presentations, excellent communication skills (particularly when shifting between patients, PCPs, psychiatrists, and team meetings), and the ability to deliver evidence-based brief interventions. They also have extensive knowledge of local resources, particularly important because of the high percentage of referred patients covered through Medicare and Medicaid programs, which offer limited options for access to mental health services.

(b) Local champions and attention to stakeholders

Primary care and other local champions for integrated care exhibit a sincerely held belief in integration and have an ability to tactfully engage and navigate the varying partners important to integration success, including human resources staff, physicians, nursing leadership, mental health leadership, social work leadership, and system administrators and information technology experts. These champions explore innovative ways for systems improvement such as creative funding sources for innovations including telepsychiatry for under-served areas. Because of strong across-the-board buy in, the CCP teams were able to offset the large behavioral health needs encountered by PCP turnover, at times, through shared coordination and communication, improved access to consultations and support, and expert evaluation and triage services that would have otherwise been lacking. As a result of obtaining crucial administrative support and meeting the stakeholders' needs first, the CCP program has achieved greater success.

VIII. TABLE 4. IN-VIVO COLLABORATIVE CARE MODEL IMPLEMENTATION CHARACTERISTICS

	Population	Eligibility	Referral Mechanism	Fur	nding
				Initial	Sustained
MHIP	Initial: Uninsured in 2 WA state counties; Current: Contracted Behavioral Health Benefit of a non- profit Medicaid Vendor	Adults with behavioral health needs receiving benefits from designated Medicaid vendor	Uniform screening in Primary Care; Primary Care referral for Behavioral Health; Warm Handoffs	State Legislative Action; Levy Funds; Defined proportion of CM revenue tied to performance	Non-profit Medicaid Vendor Benefit
DIAMOND	Adults with eligible private health insurance plans	Adults with PHQ-9 score ≥ 10; Negative Bipolar Screen; Benefits through 1 of 6 private insurers	Primary Care Screening for Those eligible; Warm Handoffs; Specialty Referrals Required Assignment of PCP	Multi-payer (N=6), private; Pooled-data allowed for range of PMPM available to clinical systems on an individually negotiated rate; individuals are eligible for 12 mos. of PMPM	Not applicable
RESPECT-Mil	Active-duty military	Adults with Positive Screen on either 4- Item PTSD Screener in Primary care (Prins 2003; PC-PTSD ≥2) or PHQ-2 (≥1); followed by Positive PCL and PHQ-9	PCP option for referral to CM with RESPECT-Mil or traditional care mechanisms	Salaried; 1 equivalent RN care facilitator and 1 administrative assistant equivalent per 10,000 military personnel in participating clinic catchment area; 5,000	Transitioned to PCMH funding at discretion of DoD, folded into PCMH payment methodologies

				minimum for funding of one of each	
<u>Veterans</u> <u>Health</u> <u>Administration</u> <u>PACT</u>	Adult Veterans	Behavioral health disorder; at discretion of primary care physician (their comfort level, access)	Warm-handoff to CM in primary care setting primarily, EMR order referral secondarily	Salaried; CPT codes generated for BH services to track process outcomes and volume of services provided	Not applicable
<u>UC Davis</u> <u>Coordinated</u> <u>Care Teams</u>	Adult persons with Primary Care within UC Davis Primary Care Network (PCN)	Behavioral health disorder; at discretion of primary care physician (their comfort level, access)	Electronic order entry in EMR	Grant-supported "pay for performance" pilot Lunch and Learns with psychiatrists in primary care	California Department of Health Education and Management (salaried CMs), UCDHS Department of Psychiatry FTE Psychiatric Faculty, Psychosomatic Medicine Fellow; Two new grants, an R01 and internal funding for ongoing telepsychiatry efforts

IX. TABLE 5. IN-VIVO COLLABORATIVE CARE MODEL ADAPTATION OF ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS

	Team	Population Health		Measurement Based Care Outcomes	Evidence Based Care		
		Caseload	Registry	Caseload, Supervision		Training	Algorithms
MHIP	PCP, CM/ Behavioral Health Specialist, Psychiatrist Consultant	40-100 per CM	Real-time MHITS, Web- Based Registry, separate from EMR; tracks clinical outcomes and lapses in care	Protected time, typically weekly, for Consulting Psychiatrist and CM	PHQ-9, GAD-7, AUDIT, MDQ, DAST ¹	Systematic and ongoing training support for CMs and Psychiatric Consultants	System-wide, published algorithms; common medications used and educational materials for PCPs
DIAMOND	PCP, CM/ Behavioral Health Specialist, Psychiatrist Consultant	100 per CM, 50-80 common	Real-time Web- Based Registry, Managed by 3 rd Party Implementation Support	Weekly as allowed with CM, Psychiatrist	PHQ-9, GAD-7, AUDIT, MDQ	Ongoing modeling, backup of non- nursing trained CMs by nurses was helpful	None
<u>RESPECT-Mil</u>	PCP, PCP clinic nurses, PCP office staff, PCP Depression and PTSD Nurse, Consulting Psychiatrist	50-80 per CM	Real-time web- based PTSD and Depression registry; Capacity to target persons lapsing in care; triage worsening clinical outcomes	Protected with PTSD/Depress ion NCM and consulting psychiatrist weekly	PHQ-9, PCL	RESPECT-Mil Implementatio n Team; On- boarding orientations, monthly support calls and once- yearly on-site visitations with report cards	Standardized algorithms were in place for PTSD/Depression and distributed to all team-based participants

	Team	Population Health		Measurement Based Care Outcomes	Evidence Based Care		
		Caseload	Registry	Caseload, Supervision		Training	Algorithms
<u>Veterans</u> <u>Health</u> <u>Administrati</u> <u>on PACT</u>	At least one co- located Behavioral Health Clinician with each Primary Care clinic; PACT staffing averages 0.5 FTE Psychiatrist per primary care clinic, 1.11 FTE psychologist, and 0.69 mental health nursing equivalent (Care Management)	Not defined.	Behavioral Health Lab (BHL) Software System allows for patient- level behavioral health tracking and monitoring, clinical decision support and program-level performance monitoring.	Variable across clinic implementatio n site; dependent upon physical co-location, space and funding availability	No consistent program-wide clinical outcomes; Depression outcomes measured for TIDES program	Nationally curated trainings and patient- education materials for various behavioral health conditions	Centrally supported algorithms available through on-line resources for review
<u>UC Davis</u> <u>Coordinated</u> <u>Care Teams</u>	Psychiatrist, CM (LCSW and a Nurse), Pharmacist	100 per CM	None consistently utilized	Weekly; physically- present team- members discuss 12-14 patients selected for review by CM	PHQ-9, GAD-7 embedded within EMR system for easy review during caseload supervision	Nurses and LCSW trained on EB Psychosocial Interventions	Psychiatrists "curbside" with PCPs regarding stepwise approach to management of common disorders

¹PHQ-9: Patient Health Questionnaire 9-Item (K Kroenke, Spitzer, and Williams 2001), GAD-7: Generalized Anxiety Disorder 7-Item (Spitzer et al. 2006), AUDIT: Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (Frank et al. 2008), MDQ: Mood Disorders Questionnaire (Hirschfeld 2000), DAST: Drug Abuse Screening Test (Skinner 1982).

X. FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Collaborative Care Models represent a compelling solution for multiple challenges faced by healthcare systems seeking to integrate behavioral health with primary care services. Robust implementations have consistently demonstrated the capacity to achieve the "Triple Aim" of systematic reform efforts (W. J. Katon and Unützer 2013)-- improving the experience of care, improving the health of populations, and reducing per capita costs of healthcare. While much has been achieved, further efforts are necessary to realize the promise of behavioral health integration. The following recommendations highlight areas in need of additional research and development. **Table 6** lists the summary recommendations as noted in **bold** in the text.

A. Use of consistent language and terminology when referring to integrated care implementations

At present, there is marked variability in regards to the terminology of "integrated care". Terms like "Collaborative Care", "coordinated care", and "co-located care" are often used interchangeably, leading to challenges in defining a common core standard of integrated care models and comparison of implementations. The skillsets and training backgrounds of personnel involved in "integrated care" also vary highly, yet many persons with widely varying backgrounds may be referred to as the "mental health specialist", "behavioral health practitioner" or "care manager" (CM) – in addition to a number of other terms.

To be sure, the Collaborative Care Model requires a multidisciplinary team for implementation and is adaptable in a variety of settings with different degrees of workforce resources. Utilizing more standardized terms can help systems to advance their "integrated care" programs toward more evidence-based approaches through clearer understanding of the meaning of "Collaborative Care".

Recommendations:

Develop a standardized glossary of evidence-based "integrated care" terminology in partnership with other essential allied organizations.

B. Ongoing emphasis on psychiatric physician workforce training and development

The American Psychiatric Association has enumerated several core competencies needed by psychiatrists who participate in integrated care models (Summers et al. 2014):

- 1. Familiarity with models of healthcare payment
- 2. Knowledge of EMRs and registries
- 3. Operational familiarity with quality and performance metrics
- 4. Ability to participate in team-based approaches to care under physician oversight

- 5. Skill in providing caseload supervision and decision support to CMs or ongoing evaluation and follow-up visits with a psychiatrist
- 6. Knowledge of principles of population management
- 7. Ability to communicate with professionals in a variety of medical, social services, and administrative disciplines

Integrated behavioral health is growing rapidly, and there are limited training resources on this topic. The University of Washington's AIMS Center (http://aims.uw.edu/resourcelibrary/psychiatry-resident-training-collaborative-care, 2015a) has developed a clinical rotation curriculum for psychiatry residents that introduces a senior resident to the role of the psychiatric consultant in a Collaborative Care team. Fellowship opportunities and post-graduate training experiences are now also offered for psychiatrists interested in furthering their skillset in Collaborative Care at the AIMS Center as well. The Collaborative Care faculty psychiatrist provides weekly caseload supervision and individual case reviews of four to six patients weekly. Residents participate in interdisciplinary care team meetings. Content of the teaching includes introduction to the theory and practice of Collaborative Care teams, case finding, differential diagnosis, case formulation, treating to target, team building, workflows, and quality improvement. A recently released report from the APA Council on Medical Education and Lifelong Learning details training requirements and current experiences linked to Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education milestones competencies for Collaborative Care Models (Summers et al. 2014).

There are also effective modules for training psychiatrists transitioning into integrated behavioral care roles in the principles and practice of Collaborative Care. For example, the AIMS Center (UW AIMS Center 2015) and the Center for Integrated Health Solutions, supported by the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA), have structured training programs psychiatrists can take advantage of to prepare for work in Collaborative Care. The AIMS Center/SAMHSA's program (Ratzliff et al. 2012) has modules that include building an integrated care team, principles of psychiatric consulting in primary care, behavioral interventions and referrals in primary care, medical patients with psychiatric illness, the evidence base for Collaborative Care, roles for a psychiatrist in team-based care, and making the case for integrated behavioral health in primary care. The APA offers courses in Collaborative Care at annual scientific meetings coupled with in-depth reading materials (Raney 2015b). In addition, the APA will soon have available online training modules available for Continuing Medical Education (CME) credit.

Recommendations

Further expand training opportunities within graduate medical education on evidence-based models of integrated care in collaboration with the American Board of Psychiatry and Neurology (ABPN).

Expand CME opportunities for physicians, especially online courses paired with CME credit.

Incentivize ongoing training and standardization through a professional certification program.

C. System-wide implementation support with focus on accountability, QI, and the use of information technology

Review of existing large-scale Collaborative Care demonstrations reveals several consistent types of resources necessary for quality implementations. These include the need for ongoing training of healthcare team members to provide evidence-based care (EBC); consistent use of disease registries to allow for population-focused team efforts, individual team-member accountability and patient-level follow-up; and standardized treatment manuals to facilitate stepped-care and EBC. Furthermore, whole-team accountability and QI can be operationalized on the frame of these core components, which guards against inevitable programmatic drift without a structured measurement system.

Measurement of individual patient health outcomes via a registry is an essential tool to achieve successful outcomes and is often one of the last components to be implemented within "integrated care" models, if it is included at all. Because healthcare information technology is still relatively nascent, current registries often exist in parallel to EMR systems, creating cumbersome duplicative workflows and reporting mechanisms for CMs, physicians, and other team members. Consequently, this is a rate-limiting step to full-scale evidence-based Collaborative Care implementation.

Once registry functionality is firmly embedded, Collaborative Care teams can more accurately measure their outcomes, clinical implementations can be seen in aggregate, and effective performance measures can be established which drive improvements in patient health and program efficiency.

Recommendations

Develop standard minimum functional criteria for disease registries and information technology in Collaborative Care.

Advocate for the inclusion of these minimal criteria in existing EMR platforms or at the level of health information exchanges.

Develop common team-based performance benchmarks for use in Collaborative Care implementation.

Design a "road-map" to Collaborative Care implementation to assist systems invested in evidence-based integrated care delivery.

D. Standardized and coordinated training for all healthcare personnel involved in Collaborative Care Model implementation, including primary care and care management associations

In-vivo implementations of Collaborative Care require steadfast attention to workforce training for all team-based personnel. Because there is considerable regional diversity in background and qualifications for Collaborative Care healthcare providers and CMs, a clear training curriculum that expands upon the roles of the primary care physician as well as the CM is necessary and should align with existing training programs available to integrated care psychiatrists.

Recommendations

Partner with allied behavioral health organizations (e.g., psychology, social work, advance practice nursing, professional counselors), care management, and primary care (e.g., American Academy of Family Physicians, American College of Physicians, American Academy of Pediatrics) to develop interdisciplinary training programs focusing on the respective roles within the Collaborative Care Model.

Partner with allied organizations responsible for the training of future behavioral health, care management, and primary care practitioners to develop opportunities to formally incorporate Collaborative Care earlier in the professional curriculum.

E. Development of standardized measures to assess process outcomes related to essential core elements of Collaborative Care

A core feature of accountability and QI is the capacity to measure processes of care. When clinical outcomes are sub-par, this allows for identification and correction of possible sources of under-implementation. Given the definable essential elements of Collaborative Care, process measures may be derived that approximate these elements and guide more robust implementation.

Recommendations

Support the development of process measures that align with the four essential elements of Collaborative Care.

Coordinate with national and regional entities, including payer and provider stakeholders, to disseminate a common set of process measures for Collaborative Care.

F. Support for testing and refining definitions and implementations of essential core elements through ongoing process improvement

The essential elements of Collaborative Care require ongoing testing, validation and refinement. Additionally, they should be associated with individual clinical outcomes and system-wide outcomes, costs of care, and satisfaction in care delivery. It may be arbitrary to segregate each of the elements, but attention to them as independent entities may lead to increased awareness and fidelity to research-level implementations and outcomes.

Recommendations

The APA and APM should work in a coordinated fashion to support ongoing scientific research into the effectiveness of each of the essential elements of Collaborative Care in aggregate and individually, exploring opportunities to add or subtract essential elements as necessary to streamline implementation, effectiveness, and efficiency of Collaborative Care Models.

The APA and APM should support further implementation research that runs in parallel to the effectiveness of the core elements.

G. Advocacy for payment mechanisms that align with the essential elements of effective integrated care and are tied to performance-based incentives

Payment reform has proven to be a significant barrier to wider implementation of Collaborative Care Models. Significant task-shifting and time commitments are required for team-members, all of which require practitioners to work outside of their typical reimbursable scope of duties. As such, healthcare providers are at risk for not engaging in Collaborative Care Models unless reimbursement strategies are in place. In-vivo demonstrations in this report illustrate the breadth of payer systems willing to invest in the Collaborative Care Model provided the implementation is true to the essential core elements of Collaborative Care.

Systems working within full-scale Collaborative Care offer a realistic option to operationalize clinical pay-for-performance incentives for healthcare providers that have been proven to improve efficiency in care. Consequently, Collaborative Care is an enticing platform of services delivery for "integrated care" models from the payer perspective, but the myriad of terms and non-evidence-based implementations serves to confuse payer stakeholders and threatens to halt momentum for integration of behavioral health and primary care.

Recommendations

The APA and APM should create opportunities to educate public and private payer stakeholders on the essential elements of Collaborative Care Models.

The APA and APM should develop resources for members to educate local and state payers of health services on essential elements of Collaborative Care Models.

The APA and APM should support efforts to continue to research the cost-savings and added value of Collaborative Care Model implementation in real-world settings.

H. Advocacy for state and federal-level policy favoring implementation of evidence-based integrated care

A significant portion of mental health services are provided through state-level Medicaid programs which have yet to consistently recognize or implement through payment mechanisms the substantial evidence-base for Collaborative Care programs. State innovation is often driven by federal incentive programs that offset the financial risk for program start-up, workforce training and investment in overhead such as information technology supports. Public and private payer entities rarely are recognized or rewarded for their contributions to innovation in payment.

Recommendations

Develop advocacy platforms directed at state and federal agencies that foster the incorporation of Collaborative Care Models into the existing menu of reimbursable services.

Partner with allied medical and non-medical stakeholders in advocacy measures calling on funders to recognize, through adoption of alternative payment mechanisms, the potential value of Collaborative Care Models in healthcare reform efforts.

Develop recognition programs for stakeholders investing in Collaborative Care Models to foster competition and positively reward innovation.

I. Partnering with medical groups and organizations to increase healthcare providers' awareness of Collaborative Care.

Medical groups representing primary and specialty care are logical partners in educating healthcare providers about the evidence base that supports the advantages of Collaborative Care. Penetration and acceptance of Collaborative Care can be facilitated by awareness of the Triple Aim benefits of Collaborative Care and advantages for improving access and outcomes among medical-surgical populations that can benefit from the model. Residency training programs across a spectrum of physician and other provider specialties could benefit from exposure to Collaborative Care Models during required psychiatry or mental health rotations or content.

Recommendations

Partner with allied medical stakeholders in increasing healthcare provider awareness of Collaborative Care Models and the evidence that supports their outcomes.

Consult with medical and other healthcare professional organizations regarding inclusion of Collaborative Care training during required psychiatry or other mental health rotations or content.

J. Leveraging of technology to improve Collaborative Care outcomes.

One of the challenges of dissemination of Collaborative Care is that many geographic areas and many smaller primary care clinics do not have or do not have access to local mental health providers who can be on-site, even part time. Telemedicine-based Collaborative Care virtually co-locates and integrates mental health providers into primary care settings. Virtual care offers the possibility of relieving mismatches in mental health care needs and available resources. There have been few comparisons of outcomes of patients assigned to practicebased and telemedicine-based Collaborative Care, but early evidence is that outcomes are as good or better (J. C. Fortney et al. 2013; Hilty et al. 2015). A significant barrier remains securing a payment model in the fee-for-service environment that facilitates the non-patient contact elements of Collaborative Care, such as registry management and case supervision.

Recommendations

Advocate for outcomes research related to elements predictive of optimal implementation of telemedicine-based Collaborative Care.

Include virtual clinical models when advocating for payment models that align with the core elements of Collaborative Care.

Table 6: List of Workgroup Recommendations, Future Directions

Education and Training

Develop a standardized glossary of evidence-based "integrated care" terminology in partnership with other essential allied organizations.

Further expand training opportunities within graduate medical education on evidence-based models of integrated care in collaboration with the ABPN.

Expand CME opportunities for physicians, especially online courses paired with CME credit.

Partner with allied behavioral health organizations (e.g., psychology, social work, advance practice nursing, professional counselors), care management, and primary care (e.g., American Academy of Family Physicians, American College of Physicians, American Academy of Pediatrics) to develop within-field continuing education training programs focusing on the respective roles within the Collaborative Care Model.

Partner with allied organizations responsible for the training of future behavioral health, care management, and primary care practitioners to develop opportunities to formally incorporate Collaborative Care earlier in the professional curriculum.
Partner with allied medical stakeholders in increasing healthcare provider awareness of Collaborative Care models and the evidence that supports their outcomes.

Incentivize ongoing training and standardization through a professional certification program.

Implementation Support

Develop standard minimum functional criteria for disease registries and information technology in Collaborative Care.

Advocate for the inclusion of these minimal criteria in existing EMR platforms or at the level of health information exchanges.

Develop common team-based performance benchmarks for use in Collaborative Care implementation. Design a "road-map" to Collaborative Care implementation to assist systems invested in evidence-based integrated care delivery.

Support the development of process measures that align with the four essential elements of Collaborative Care.

Coordinate with national and regional entities, including payer and provider stakeholders, to disseminate a common set of process measures for Collaborative Care.

Advocate for outcomes research related to elements predictive of optimal implementation of telemedicine-based Collaborative Care.

The APA and APM should support for further implementation research that runs in parallel to the effectiveness of the core elements.

The APA and APM should work in a coordinated fashion to support ongoing scientific research into the effectiveness of each of the essential elements of Collaborative Care in aggregate and individually, exploring opportunities to add, subtract, or redefine the essential elements as necessary to streamline implementation, effectiveness, and efficiency of Collaborative Care Models.

Payment Reform

The APA and APM should create opportunities to educate public and private payer stakeholders on the essential elements of Collaborative Care Models.

The APA and APM should develop resources for members to educate local and state payers of health services on essential elements of Collaborative Care Models.

The APA and APM should support efforts to continue to research the cost-savings and added value of Collaborative Care Model implementation in real-world settings.

Develop advocacy platforms directed at state and federal agencies that foster the incorporation of Collaborative Care Models into the existing menu of reimbursable services.

Partner with allied medical and non-medical stakeholders in advocacy measures calling on funders to recognize, through adoption of alternative payment mechanisms, the potential value of Collaborative Care Models in healthcare reform efforts.

Develop recognition programs for payers investing in Collaborative Care Models to foster competition and positively reward innovation.

Include virtual clinical models when advocating for payment models that align with the core elements of Collaborative Care.

*The above recommendations are divided into three categories: education and training, implementation support, and payment reform.

XI. REFERENCES

- "7. Approaches to Glycemic Treatment." 2014. *Diabetes Care* 38 (Supplement_1): S41–48. doi:10.2337/dc15-S010.
- Archer, J, P Bower, S Gilbody, K Lovell, D Richards, L Gask, C Dickens, and P Coventry. 2012. "Collaborative Care for Depression and Anxiety Problems (Review)." Cochrane Database Syst Rev, no. 10.
- Arroll, Bruce, and F Goodyear-Smith. 2010. "Validation of PHQ-2 and PHQ-9 to Screen for Major Depression in the Primary Care Population." *The Annals of ...*, 348–53. doi:10.1370/afm.1139.INTRODUCTION.
- Bartels, Stephen J, Eugenie H Coakley, Cynthia Zubritsky, James H Ware, Keith M Miles, Patricia A Areán, Hongtu Chen, et al. 2004. "Improving Access to Geriatric Mental Health Services: A Randomized Trial Comparing Treatment Engagement with Integrated versus Enhanced Referral Care for Depression, Anxiety, and at-Risk Alcohol Use." *The American Journal of Psychiatry* 161 (8): 1455–62. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.161.8.1455.
- Belsher, Bradley E., Justin Curry, Phoebe McCutchan, Thomas Oxman, Kent A. Corso, Kelly Williams, and Charles C. Engel. 2014. "Implementation of a Collaborative Care Initiative for PTSD and Depression in the Army Primary Care System." *Social Work in Mental Health*, October. Routledge. http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/15332985.2014.897673#.Vb9bmHjs5VI.
- Bickman, Leonard, Susan Douglas Kelley, Carolyn Breda, Ana Regina de Andrade, and Manuel Riemer. 2011. "Effects of Routine Feedback to Clinicians on Mental Health Outcomes of Youths: Results of a Randomized Trial." *Psychiatric Services (Washington, D.C.)* 62 (12): 1423–29. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.002052011.
- Blanchard, E B, J Jones-Alexander, T C Buckley, and C A Forneris. 1996. "Psychometric Properties of the PTSD Checklist (PCL)." *Behaviour Research and Therapy* 34 (8): 669–73. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8870294.
- Bogner, Hillary. 2013. "Measuring Concurrent Oral Hypoglycemic and Antidepressant Adherence and Clinical Outcomes." Am J Manag Care 19 (3). http://www.ajmc.com/publications/issue/2013/2013-1-vol19-n3/Measuring-Concurrent-Oral-Hypoglycemic-and-Antidepressant-Adherence-and-Clinical-Outcomes.
- Bower, Peter, Simon Gilbody, David Richards, Janine Fletcher, and Alex Sutton. 2006.
 "Collaborative Care for Depression in Primary Care Making Sense of a Complex Intervention: Systematic Review and Meta-Regression." *British Journal of Psychiatry* 189: 484–93. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.106.023655.

- Brodey, Benjamin B, Brian Cuffel, Joyce McCulloch, Shanna Tani, Mark Maruish, Inger Brodey, and Jürgen Unützer. 2005. "The Acceptability and Effectiveness of Patient-Reported Assessments and Feedback in a Managed Behavioral Healthcare Setting." *The American Journal of Managed Care* 11 (12): 774–80. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16336061.
- CBO: Congressional Budget Office. 2014. *Approaches to Reducing Federal Spending on Military Health Care - CBO*. http://www.cbo.gov/publication/44993.
- Cerimele, Joseph M., A Halperin, C Spigner, A Ratzliff, and Wayne J Katon. 2014. "Collaborative Care Psychiatrists' Views on Treating Bipolar Disorder in Primary Care: A Qualitative Study." *General Hospital Psychiatry* 36 (6): 575–80.
- Chang, Evelyn T, Danielle E Rose, Elizabeth M Yano, Kenneth B Wells, Maureen E Metzger, Edward P Post, Martin L Lee, and Lisa V Rubenstein. 2013. "Determinants of Readiness for Primary Care-Mental Health Integration (PC-MHI) in the VA Health Care System." Journal of General Internal Medicine 28 (3): 353–62. doi:10.1007/s11606-012-2217-z.
- Community Health Plan of Washington: "Community Health Centers: Behavioral Health Integration." 2013. https://chpw.org/BriefingPaper_-_Behavioral_Health_Integration.pdf.
- Crain, A Lauren, Leif I Solberg, Jürgen Unützer, Kris A Ohnsorg, Michael V Maciosek, Robin R Whitebird, Arne Beck, and Beth A Molitor. 2013. "Designing and Implementing Research on a Statewide Quality Improvement Initiative: The DIAMOND Study and Initiative." *Medical Care* 51 (9): e58–66. doi:10.1097/MLR.0b013e318249d8a4.
- Dietrich, Allen J, Thomas E Oxman, John W Williams, Herbert C Schulberg, Martha L Bruce, Pamela W Lee, Sheila Barry, et al. 2004. "Re-Engineering Systems for the Treatment of Depression in Primary Care: Cluster Randomised Controlled Trial." *BMJ (Clinical Research Ed.)* 329 (7466): 602. doi:10.1136/bmj.38219.481250.55.
- Dowrick, Christopher, Geraldine M Leydon, Anita McBride, Amanda Howe, Hana Burgess, Pamela Clarke, Sue Maisey, and Tony Kendrick. 2009. "Patients' and Doctors' Views on Depression Severity Questionnaires Incentivised in UK Quality and Outcomes Framework: Qualitative Study." *BMJ (Clinical Research Ed.)* 338 (January): b663. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19299474.
- Dundon, Margaret, and Katherine Dollar. 2011. Primary Care-Mental Health Integration Co-Located, Collaborative Care: An Operations Manual.
- Engel, CC, LH Jaycox, MC Freed, RM Bray, D Brambilla, D Zatzick, B Litz, et al. 2015. "Centrally Assisted Collaborative Telecare for Posttraumatic Stress Disorder and Depression among Military Personnel Attending Primary Care: A Randomized Controlled Trial." *Under Review*.

- Engel, Charles C, Robert M Bray, Lisa H Jaycox, Michael C Freed, Doug Zatzick, Marian E Lane, Donald Brambilla, et al. 2014. "Implementing Collaborative Primary Care for Depression and Posttraumatic Stress Disorder: Design and Sample for a Randomized Trial in the U.S. Military Health System." *Contemporary Clinical Trials* 39 (2): 310–19. doi:10.1016/j.cct.2014.10.002.
- Engel, Charles C, Thomas Oxman, Christopher Yamamoto, Darin Gould, Sheila Barry, Patrice Stewart, Kurt Kroenke, John W Williams, and Allen J Dietrich. 2008. "RESPECT-Mil: Feasibility of a Systems-Level Collaborative Care Approach to Depression and Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder in Military Primary Care." *Military Medicine* 173 (10): 935–40. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19160608.
- Fihn, Stephan D, Mary B McDonell, Paula Diehr, Stephen M Anderson, Katharine A Bradley, David H Au, John A Spertus, et al. 2004. "Effects of Sustained Audit/feedback on Self-Reported Health Status of Primary Care Patients." *The American Journal of Medicine* 116 (4): 241–48. doi:10.1016/j.amjmed.2003.10.026.
- Fortney, John C, Jeffrey M Pyne, Mark J Edlund, David K Williams, Dean E Robinson, Dinesh Mittal, and Kathy L Henderson. 2007. "A Randomized Trial of Telemedicine-Based Collaborative Care for Depression." *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 22 (8): 1086–93. doi:10.1007/s11606-007-0201-9.
- Fortney, John C, Jeffrey M Pyne, Timothy A Kimbrell, Teresa J Hudson, Dean E Robinson, Ronald Schneider, William M Moore, Paul J Custer, Kathleen M Grubbs, and Paula P Schnurr. 2015.
 "Telemedicine-Based Collaborative Care for Posttraumatic Stress Disorder: A Randomized Clinical Trial." JAMA Psychiatry 72 (1): 58–67. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.1575.
- Fortney, John C, Jeffrey M Pyne, Sip B Mouden, Dinesh Mittal, Teresa J Hudson, Gary W Schroeder, David K Williams, Carol A Bynum, Rhonda Mattox, and Kathryn M Rost. 2013.
 "Practice-Based versus Telemedicine-Based Collaborative Care for Depression in Rural Federally Qualified Health Centers: A Pragmatic Randomized Comparative Effectiveness Trial." *The American Journal of Psychiatry* 170 (4): 414–25. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2012.12050696.
- Fortney, John, Mark Enderle, Skye McDougall, Jeff Clothier, Jay Otero, Lisa Altman, and Geoff Curran. 2012. "Implementation Outcomes of Evidence-Based Quality Improvement for Depression in VA Community Based Outpatient Clinics." *Implementation Science : IS* 7 (January): 30. doi:10.1186/1748-5908-7-30.
- Frank, Danielle, Anna F DeBenedetti, Robert J Volk, Emily C Williams, Daniel R Kivlahan, and Katharine a Bradley. 2008. "Effectiveness of the AUDIT-C as a Screening Test for Alcohol Misuse in Three Race/ethnic Groups." *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 23 (6): 781–87. doi:10.1007/s11606-008-0594-0.

- Gilbody, S, P Bower, and J Fletcher. 2006. "Collaborative Care for Depression: A Cumulative Meta-Analysis and Review of Longer-Term Outcomes." *Archives of Internal ...* http://archinte.ama-assn.org/cgi/reprint/166/21/2314.pdf.
- Gilbody, Simon, Trevor Sheldon, and Allan House. 2008. "Screening and Case-Finding Instruments for Depression: A Meta-Analysis." *CMAJ : Canadian Medical Association Journal = Journal de l'Association Medicale Canadienne* 178 (8): 997–1003. doi:10.1503/cmaj.070281.
- Gual, Antoni, Lidia Segura, Montserrat Contel, Nick Heather, and Joan Colom. 2002. "Audit-3 and Audit-4: Effectiveness of Two Short Forms of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test." *Alcohol and Alcoholism (Oxford, Oxfordshire)* 37 (6): 591–96. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12414553.
- Guerrero, Erick G, Kevin C Heslin, Evelyn Chang, Karissa Fenwick, and Elizabeth Yano. 2015.
 "Organizational Correlates of Implementation of Colocation of Mental Health and Primary Care in the Veterans Health Administration." Administration and Policy in Mental Health 42 (4): 420–28. doi:10.1007/s10488-014-0582-0.
- Hankin, C S, A Spiro, D R Miller, and L Kazis. 1999. "Mental Disorders and Mental Health Treatment among U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs Outpatients: The Veterans Health Study." *The American Journal of Psychiatry* 156 (12): 1924–30. doi:10.1176/ajp.156.12.1924.
- Harding, Kelli Jane K, A John Rush, Melissa Arbuckle, Madhukar H Trivedi, and Harold Alan Pincus. 2011. "Measurement-Based Care in Psychiatric Practice: A Policy Framework for Implementation." *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry* 72 (8): 1136–43. doi:10.4088/JCP.10r06282whi.
- Harmon, S. Cory, Michael J. Lambert, David M. Smart, Eric Hawkins, Stevan L. Nielsen, Karstin Slade, and Wolfgang Lutz. 2007. "Enhancing Outcome for Potential Treatment Failures: Therapist–client Feedback and Clinical Support Tools." *Psychotherapy Research* 17 (4). Taylor & Francis Group: 379–92. doi:10.1080/10503300600702331.
- Hatfield, Derek, Lynn McCullough, Shelby H B Frantz, and Kenin Krieger. 2009. "Do We Know When Our Clients Get Worse? An Investigation of Therapists' Ability to Detect Negative Client Change." *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy* 17 (1): n/a n/a. doi:10.1002/cpp.656.
- Hawkins, Eric J., Michael J. Lambert, Dave A. Vermeersch, Kärstin L. Slade, and Kenneth C. Tuttle. 2006. "The Therapeutic Effects of Providing Patient Progress Information to Therapists and Patients." *Psychotherapy Research*, August. Oxford University Press. http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1093/ptr/kph027#.Vbz-SHjs5VI.

- Helfrich, Christian D., Emily D. Dolan, Joseph Simonetti, Robert J. Reid, Sandra Joos, Bonnie J. Wakefield, Gordon Schectman, et al. 2014. "Elements of Team-Based Care in a Patient-Centered Medical Home Are Associated with Lower Burnout among VA Primary Care Employees." *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 29 (SUPPL. 2): 659–66. doi:10.1007/s11606-013-2702-z.
- Hilty, Donald, Peter M. Yellowlees, Michelle B. Parrish, and Steven Chan. 2015. "Telepsychiatry: Effective, Evidence-Based, and at a Tipping Point in Health Care Delivery?" *Psychiatric Clinics of North America* 38: 559–92. doi:10.1016/j.psc.2015.05.006.
- Hirschfeld, R. M.a. 2000. "Development and Validation of a Screening Instrument for Bipolar Spectrum Disorder: The Mood Disorder Questionnaire." *American Journal of Psychiatry* 157 (11): 1873–75. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.157.11.1873.
- Hoge, Charles W, Carl A Castro, Stephen C Messer, Dennis McGurk, Dave I Cotting, and Robert L Koffman. 2004. "Combat Duty in Iraq and Afghanistan, Mental Health Problems, and Barriers to Care." *The New England Journal of Medicine* 351 (1): 13–22. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa040603.
- Institute for Healthcare Improvement. 2003. *The Breakthrough Series: IHI's Collaborative Model* for Achieving Breakthrough Improvement.
- Joesch, J. 2011. Evaluation of the General Assistance Managed Care Pilot in King and Pierce Counties for the Period of January 2008 through September 2009: Brief Report. http://www.chammp.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=Ikv-_J3e-YY=&tabid=197.
- Katon, W, P Robinson, M Von Korff, E Lin, T Bush, E Ludman, G Simon, and E Walker. 1996. "A Multifaceted Intervention to Improve Treatment of Depression in Primary Care." *Archives of General Psychiatry* 53 (10): 924–32. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8857869.
- Katon, W, M Von Korff, E Lin, G Simon, E Walker, T Bush, and E Ludman. 1995. "Collaborative Management to Achieve Depression Treatment Guidelines." *JAMA : The Journal of the American Medical Association* 273 (13): 1026–31.
- Katon, Wayne J, and Jürgen Unützer. 2013. "Health Reform and the Affordable Care Act: The Importance of Mental Health Treatment to Achieving the Triple Aim." *Journal of Psychosomatic Research* 74 (6): 533–37. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychores.2013.04.005.
- Kerr, E. a., S. L. Krein, S. Vijan, T. P. Hofer, and R. a. Hayward. 2001. "Avoiding Pitfalls in Chronic Disease Quality Measurement: A Case for the next Generation of Technical Quality Measures." *American Journal of Managed Care* 7 (11): 1033–43. doi:402 [pii].
- Kindig, David A. 2007. "Understanding Population Health Terminology." *The Milbank Quarterly* 85 (1): 139–61. doi:10.1111/j.1468-0009.2007.00479.x.

- Kindig, David, and Greg Stoddart. 2003. "What Is Population Health?" *American Journal of Public Health* 93 (3): 380–83. doi:10.2105/AJPH.93.3.380.
- Knaup, Carina, Markus Koesters, Dorothea Schoefer, Thomas Becker, and Bernd Puschner.
 2009. "Effect of Feedback of Treatment Outcome in Specialist Mental Healthcare: Meta-Analysis." *The British Journal of Psychiatry : The Journal of Mental Science* 195 (1): 15–22. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.108.053967.
- Krägeloh, Christian U, Karol J Czuba, D Rex Billington, Paula Kersten, and Richard J Siegert. 2015.
 "Using Feedback from Patient-Reported Outcome Measures in Mental Health Services: A Scoping Study and Typology." *Psychiatric Services (Washington, D.C.)* 66 (3): 224–41. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.201400141.
- Kroenke, K, R L Spitzer, and J B Williams. 2001. "The PHQ-9: Validity of a Brief Depression Severity Measure." Journal of General Internal Medicine 16 (9): 606–13. http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1495268&tool=pmcentrez&r endertype=abstract.
- Kroenke, Kurt, Robert L Spitzer, and Janet B W Williams. 2003. "The Patient Health Questionnaire-2: Validity of a Two-Item Depression Screener." *Medical Care* 41 (11): 1284– 92. doi:10.1097/01.MLR.0000093487.78664.3C.
- Lambert, Michael J., Jason L. Whipple, David a. Vermeersch, David W. Smart, Eric J. Hawkins, Steven Lars Nielsan, and Melissa Goates. 2002. "Enhancing Psychotherapy Outcomes via Providing Feedback on Client Progress: A Replication." *Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy* 9 (2): 91–103. doi:10.1002/cpp.324.
- Lin, Elizabeth H B, Wayne Katon, Michael Von Korff, Carolyn Rutter, Greg E Simon, Malia Oliver, Paul Ciechanowski, Evette J Ludman, Terry Bush, and Bessie Young. 2004. "Relationship of Depression and Diabetes Self-Care, Medication Adherence, and Preventive Care." *Diabetes Care* 27 (9): 2154–60. doi:10.2337/diacare.27.9.2154.
- Lin, Elizabeth H B, Michael Von Korff, Paul Ciechanowski, Carolyn M Rutter, Malia Oliver, Bessie a Young, Jochen Gensichen, et al. 2012. "Treatment Adjustment and Medication." *Annals* of Family Medicine 10: 6–14. doi:10.1370/afm.1343.INTRODUCTION.
- Linde, K, K Sigterman, L Kriston, G Rucker, S Jamil, K Meissner, and A Schneider. 2015.
 "Effectiveness of Psychological Treatments for Depressive Disorders in Primary Care: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis." *Annals of Family Medicine* 13 (1): 56–68. doi:10.1370/afm.1719.INTRODUCTION.
- Moullin, Max. 2002. *Delivering Excellence In Health and Social Care: Quality, Excellence and Performance Measurement*. 1.0 ed. Open University Press.

- Murphy, Kevin P., Charles M. Rashleigh, and Ladislav Timulak. 2012. "The Relationship between Progress Feedback and Therapeutic Outcome in Student Counselling: A Randomised Control Trial." *Counselling Psychology Quarterly* 25 (1). Routledge: 1–18. doi:10.1080/09515070.2012.662349.
- "National Committee for Quality Assurance: Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS)." 2013. http://www.ncqa.org/HEDISQualityMeasurement.aspx.
- Norfleet, K, A Ratzliff, and Ya-Fen Chan. 2015. "The Role of the Integrated Care Psychiatrist in Community Settings: A Survey of Psychiatrists' Perspectives." *Psychiatric Services* (in press).
- Olick, Robert S, and George R Bergus. "Malpractice Liability for Informal Consultations." *Family Medicine* 35 (7): 476–81. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12861458.
- Oxman, Thomas E, Allen J Dietrich, John W Williams, and Kurt Kroenke. 2002. "A Three-Component Model for Reengineering Systems for the Treatment of Depression in Primary Care." *Psychosomatics* 43 (6): 441–50. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12444226.
- Pomerantz, Andrew S, Lisa K Kearney, Laura O Wray, Edward P Post, and John F McCarthy.
 2014. "Mental Health Services in the Medical Home in the Department of Veterans Affairs: Factors for Successful Integration." *Psychological Services* 11 (3): 243–53. doi:10.1037/a0036638.
- Post, Edward P, and William W Van Stone. 2008. "Veterans Health Administration Primary Care-Mental Health Integration Initiative." *North Carolina Medical Journal* 69 (1): 49–52. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18429567.
- Prins, Annabel, Paige Ouimette, Rachel Kimerling, Rebecca P. Camerond, Daniela S.
 Hugelshofer, Jennifer Shaw-Hegwer, Ann Thrailkill, Fred D. Gusman, and Javaid I. Sheikh.
 2004. "The Primary Care PTSD Screen (PC–PTSD): Development and Operating Characteristics." *Primary Care Psychiatry* 9 (1): 9–14. doi:10.1185/135525703125002360.
- Raney, Lori E. 2015a. "Integrating Primary Care and Behavioral Health: The Role of the Psychiatrist in the Collaborative Care Model." *American Journal of Psychiatry*, no. August: 721–28.
- ———., ed. 2015b. Integrated Care: Working at the Interface of Primary Care and Behavioral Health. 1.0 ed. Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Publishing.
- Ratzliff, Anna, Wayne Katon, Lori Raney, and John Kern. 2012. *Psychiatric Consulting in Primary Care : An Introduction to Practice in an Integrated Care Team With Contributions from : Supported by Funding from the Center for Integrated Health Solutions*.

- Reese, Robert J, Larry A Norsworthy, and Steve R Rowlands. 2009. "Does a Continuous Feedback System Improve Psychotherapy Outcome?" *Psychotherapy (Chicago, III.)* 46 (4): 418–31. doi:10.1037/a0017901.
- Reese, Robert J, Michael D Toland, Norah C Slone, and Larry A Norsworthy. 2010. "Effect of Client Feedback on Couple Psychotherapy Outcomes." *Psychotherapy (Chicago, III.)* 47 (4): 616–30. doi:10.1037/a0021182.
- Reid, Robert J, and Edward H Wagner. 2014. "The Veterans Health Administration Patient Aligned Care Teams: Lessons in Primary Care Transformation." *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 29 Suppl 2 (July): S552–54. doi:10.1007/s11606-014-2827-8.
- Rosenthal, Meredith B, Rushika Fernandopulle, HyunSook Ryu Song, and Bruce Landon. 2004. "Paying for Quality: Providers' Incentives for Quality Improvement." *Health Affairs (Project Hope)* 23 (2): 127–41. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15046137.
- Rosenthal, Meredith B, Richard G Frank, Zhonghe Li, and Arnold M Epstein. 2005. "Early Experience with Pay-for-Performance: From Concept to Practice." JAMA 294 (14): 1788– 93. doi:10.1001/jama.294.14.1788.
- Rubenstein, Lisa V, Edmund F Chaney, Scott Ober, Bradford Felker, Scott E Sherman, Andy Lanto, and Susan Vivell. 2010. "Using Evidence-Based Quality Improvement Methods for Translating Depression Collaborative Care Research into Practice." *Families, Systems & Health : The Journal of Collaborative Family Healthcare* 28 (2): 91–113. doi:10.1037/a0020302.
- Rush, a John, Madhukar H Trivedi, Stephen Wisniewski, J Stewart, A Nierenberg, M Thase, L
 Ritz, et al. 2006. "Bupropion-SR, Sertraline, or Venlafaxine-XR after Failure of SSRIs for
 Depression." New England Journal of Medicine 354 (12): 1231–42.
 doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1404304.
- Sachs, Gary S, Michael E Thase, Michael W Otto, Mark Bauer, David Miklowitz, Stephen R
 Wisniewski, Philip Lavori, et al. 2003. "Rationale, Design, and Methods of the Systematic
 Treatment Enhancement Program for Bipolar Disorder (STEP-BD)." *Biological Psychiatry* 53 (11): 1028–42. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12788248.
- Sackett, David L, William M C Rosenberg, J a Muir Gray, R Brian Haynes, and W Scott Richardson. 1996. "Evidence Based Medicine: What It Is and What It Isn't." *British Medical Journal* 312 (7023): 71–72. doi:10.1136/bmj.312.7023.71.
- Schectman, Gordon, and Richard Stark. 2014. "Orchestrating Large Organizational Change in Primary Care: The Veterans' Health Administration Experience Implementing a Patient-Centered Medical Home." *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 29 Suppl 2 (July): S550–51. doi:10.1007/s11606-014-2828-7.

- Schmidt, Ulrike, Sabine Landau, Maria Guadelupe Pombo-Carril, Nuria Bara-Carril, Yael Reid, Kathryn Murray, Janet Treasure, and Melanie Katzman. 2006. "Does Personalized Feedback Improve the Outcome of Cognitive-Behavioural Guided Self-Care in Bulimia Nervosa? A Preliminary Randomized Controlled Trial." *The British Journal of Clinical Psychology / the British Psychological Society* 45 (Pt 1): 111–21. doi:10.1348/014466505X29143.
- Schmittdiel, Julie a., Connie S. Uratsu, Andrew J. Karter, Michele Heisler, Usha Subramanian, Carol M. Mangione, and Joe V. Selby. 2008. "Why Don't Diabetes Patients Achieve Recommended Risk Factor Targets? Poor Adherence versus Lack of Treatment Intensification." *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 23 (5): 588–94. doi:10.1007/s11606-008-0554-8.
- Selby, Joe V. 2009. "Treatment Intensification and Risk Factor Control: A Quality Improvement Perspective." *Medical Care* 47 (4): 395–402. doi:10.2190/OM.58.2.b.Six-Year.
- Shimokawa, Kenichi, Michael J Lambert, and David W Smart. 2010. "Enhancing Treatment Outcome of Patients at Risk of Treatment Failure: Meta-Analytic and Mega-Analytic Review of a Psychotherapy Quality Assurance System." *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 78 (3): 298–311. doi:10.1037/a0019247.
- Simon, Gregory E, Evette J Ludman, Steve Tutty, Belinda Operskalski, and Michael Von Korff. 2004. "Telephone Psychotherapy and Telephone Care Management for Primary Care Patients Starting Antidepressant Treatment: A Randomized Controlled Trial." JAMA 292 (8): 935–42. doi:10.1001/jama.292.8.935.
- Simon, Gregory E, James D Ralston, James Savarino, Chester Pabiniak, Christine Wentzel, and Belinda H Operskalski. 2011. "Randomized Trial of Depression Follow-up Care by Online Messaging." *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 26 (7): 698–704. doi:10.1007/s11606-011-1679-8.
- Simon, Witold, Michael J Lambert, Mitchell W Harris, Gregory Busath, and Aaron Vazquez.
 2012. "Providing Patient Progress Information and Clinical Support Tools to Therapists: Effects on Patients at Risk of Treatment Failure." *Psychotherapy Research : Journal of the Society for Psychotherapy Research* 22 (6): 638–47. doi:10.1080/10503307.2012.698918.
- Skinner, H A. 1982. "The Drug Abuse Screening Test." Addictive Behaviors 7 (4): 363–71. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7183189.
- Slade, Karstin, Michael J Lambert, S Cory Harmon, David W Smart, and Russ Bailey. 2006. "Improving Psychotherapy Outcome: The Use of Immediate Electronic Feedback and Revised Clinical Support Tools." *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy* 15 (5): 287–303. doi:10.1002/cpp.594.

- Smith, G R, K M Rost, E P Fischer, M A Burnam, and B J Burns. 1997. "Assessing the Effectiveness of Mental Health Care in Routine Clinical Practice. Characteristics, Development, and Uses of Patient Outcomes Modules." *Evaluation & the Health Professions* 20 (1): 65–80. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10183313.
- Spitzer, Robert L, Kurt Kroenke, Janet B W Williams, and Bernd Löwe. 2006. "A Brief Measure for Assessing Generalized Anxiety Disorder: The GAD-7." Archives of Internal Medicine 166 (10): 1092–97. doi:10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092.
- Summers, Richard F, Mark H Rapaport, Justin Bailey Hunt, Steven Fischel, Sarah Johnson, Edward Silberman, Lisa Mellman, et al. 2014. *Training Psychiatrists for Integrated Behavioral Health Care*.
- Surgeon General. 2013. "United States Army Operations Orders, MEDCOM OPORDs 07-34 and 10-25: Integration of Behavioral Health Personnel (BHP) Services Into Patient-Centered Medical Home (PCMH) Primary Care and Other Primary Care Service Settings." http://www.pdhealth.mil/respect-mil_impl.asp#pad.
- Swartz, Marvin S. 2011. "Storm Clouds over the Public Mental Health Safety Net." Psychiatric Services 62 (8): 821. http://webproxy.ouhsc.edu/login?url=http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&CSC=Y& NEWS=N&PAGE=fulltext&D=psyc8&AN=2011-24795-001.
- Tanielian, T, and L Jaycox. 2008. Invisible Wounds of War: Psychological and Cognitive Injuries, Their Consequences, and Services to Assist Recovery. Psychiatric Services. Vol. 60. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.60.2.273.
- Thomas, Kathleen C, Alan R Ellis, Thomas R Konrad, Charles E Holzer, and Joseph P Morrissey. 2009. "County-Level Estimates of Mental Health Professional Shortage in the United States." *Psychiatric Services (Washington, D.C.)* 60 (10): 1323–28. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.60.10.1323.
- Thota, Anilkrishna B, Theresa Ann Sipe, Guthrie J Byard, Carlos S Zometa, Robert A Hahn, Lela R McKnight-Eily, Daniel P Chapman, et al. 2012. "Collaborative Care to Improve the Management of Depressive Disorders: A Community Guide Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis." *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 42 (5): 525–38. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2012.01.019.
- Unützer, J. 2002. "Collaborative Care Management of Late-Life Depression in the Primary Care Setting: A Randomized Controlled Trial." *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association* 288 (22): 2836–45. doi:10.1001/jama.288.22.2836.
- Unützer, Jürgen, Ya-Fen Chan, Erin Hafer, Jessica Knaster, Anne Shields, Diane Powers, and Richard C Veith. 2012. "Quality Improvement with Pay-for-Performance Incentives in

Integrated Behavioral Health Care." *American Journal of Public Health* 102 (6): e41–45. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2011.300555.

- Unützer, Jürgen, Youlim Choi, Ian A Cook, and Sabine Oishi. 2002. "A Web-Based Data Management System to Improve Care for Depression in a Multicenter Clinical Trial." *Psychiatric Services (Washington, D.C.)* 53 (6): 671–73, 678. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12045303.
- Unützer, Jürgen, and Mijung Park. 2012. "Strategies to Improve the Management of Depression in Primary Care." *Primary Care* 39 (2): 415–31. doi:10.1016/j.pop.2012.03.010.
- UW AIMS Center. 2015. *Collaborative Care Implementation Guide*. Seattle, Washington. https://aims.uw.edu/resource-library/collaborative-care-implementation-guide.
- Valenstein, Marcia, David A Adler, Jeffrey Berlant, Lisa B Dixon, Rebecca A Dulit, Beth Goldman, Ann Hackman, David W Oslin, Samuel G Siris, and William A Sonis. 2009. "Implementing Standardized Assessments in Clinical Care: Now's the Time." *Psychiatric Services* (*Washington, D.C.*) 60 (10): 1372–75. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.60.10.1372.
- Velligan, D I, P J Weiden, M Sajatovic, J Scott, D Carpenter, R Ross, and J P Docherty. 2010.
 "Strategies for Addressing Adherence Problems in Patients with Serious and Persistent Mental Illness: Recommendations from the Expert Consensus Guidelines." J Psychiatr Pract 16 (5): 306–24. doi:10.1097/01.pra.0000388626.98662.a0.
- VHA: Veterans Health Administration. 2008. Collaborative Care for Depression in the Primary Care Setting: A Primer on VA's Translating Initiatives for Depression into Effective Solutions (TIDES) Project. Development. http://www.hsrd.research.va.gov/publications/internal/depression primer.pdf.
- Wagner, E H, B T Austin, and M Von Korff. 1996. "Organizing Care for Patients with Chronic Illness." *The Milbank Quarterly* 74 (4): 511–44. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8941260.
- Wagner, EH. 2001. "Meeting the Needs of Chronically III People." *BMJ* 323 (October 2001): 945–46. http://www.bmj.com/content/323/7319/945.extract.
- Wang, Philip S, Patricia Berglund, Mark Olfson, Harold a Pincus, Kenneth B Wells, and Ronald C Kessler. 2005. "Failure and Delay in Initial Treatment Contact after First Onset of Mental Disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication." Archives of General Psychiatry 62 (6): 603–13. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.62.6.603.
- Wang, Ps, M Lane, M Olfson, Ha Pincus, Kb Wells, and Rc Kessler. 2005. "Twelve Month Use of Mental Health Services in the United States." *Archives of General Psychiatry* 6 (2): 629–40.

- Whipple, Jason L., Michael J. Lambert, David a. Vermeersch, David W. Smart, Stevan L. Nielsen, and Eric J. Hawkins. 2003. "Improving the Effects of Psychotherapy: The Use of Early Identification of Treatment and Problem-Solving Strategies in Routine Practice." *Journal of Counseling Psychology* 50 (1): 59–68. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.50.1.59.
- Whitebird, Robin R, Leif I Solberg, Nancy A Jaeckels, Pamela B Pietruszewski, Senka Hadzic, Jürgen Unützer, Kris A Ohnsorg, et al. 2014. "Effective Implementation of Collaborative Care: What Is Needed?" *American Journal of Managed Care* 20 (9): 699–707.
- Williams, Mark, Kurt Angstman, Isaac Johnson, and David Katzelnick. 2011. "Implementation of a Care Management Model for Depression at Two Primary Care Clinics." *The Journal of Ambulatory Care Management* 34 (2): 163–73. doi:10.1097/JAC.0b013e31820f63cb.
- Wong, Eunice C, Lisa H Jaycox, Lynsay Ayer, Caroline Epley, Racine Harris, Scott Naftel, and Susan M Paddock. 2015. *Evaluating the Implementation of the Re-Engineering Systems of Primary Care Treatment in the Military (RESPECT-Mil)*. RAND Corporation.
- Wray, Laura O, Benjamin R Szymanski, Lisa K Kearney, and John F McCarthy. 2012.
 "Implementation of Primary Care-Mental Health Integration Services in the Veterans Health Administration: Program Activity and Associations with Engagement in Specialty Mental Health Services." *Journal of Clinical Psychology in Medical Settings* 19 (1): 105–16. doi:10.1007/s10880-011-9285-9.
- Zivin, Kara, Paul N Pfeiffer, Benjamin R Szymanski, Marcia Valenstein, Edward P Post, Erin M Miller, and John F McCarthy. 2010. "Initiation of Primary Care-Mental Health Integration Programs in the VA Health System: Associations with Psychiatric Diagnoses in Primary Care." *Medical Care* 48 (9): 843–51. doi:10.1097/MLR.0b013e3181e5792b.